Public Document Pack

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham
Fire and Rescue Authority - Meeting of the Authority
Date:

Friday, 11 September 2020

Time:

10.30 am

Venue:

To be held remotely and streamed https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCt4VuYp8JJJvXCLRmSRJ1mw/featured

Members are requested to attend the above meeting to be held at the time, place
and date mentioned to transact the following business

Clerk to the Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority
Agenda

Pages

1

Apologies for Absence

2

Declarations of Interest

3

Minutes
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 28 February 2020

4

Chair's Announcements

5

Revenue, Capital and Prudential Code Monitoring Report to 31 July
2020
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

13 - 26

6

Annual Statement of Assurance
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

27 - 56

7

Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue
Services Update
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

57 - 74

8

Committee Outcomes
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

75 - 98

3 - 12

9

Exclusion of the Public
To consider excluding the public from the meeting during consideration
of the following item in accordance with Section 100A of the Local
Government Act 1972 (under Schedule 12A, Part 1) on the basis that,
having regard to all the circumstances, the public interest in maintaining
the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information

10

Engineering Section Restructure
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

99 - 106

Any councillor who is unable to attend the meeting and wishes to submit apologies
should do so via the Personal Assistant to the Chief Fire Officer at Fire Services
Headquarters on 0115 8388900
If you need any advice on declaring an interest in any item above, please contact
the Governance Officer shown on this agenda, if possible before the day of the
meeting.
Governance Officer:

Cath Ziane-Pryor
0115 8764298
catherine.pryor@nottinghamcity.gov.uk

If you would like British Sign Language interpretation at the meeting, please contact the
Service at least 2 weeks in advance to book this, either by emailing enquiries@nottsfire.gov.uk or by text on SMS: 0115 824 0400

Agenda Item 3

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority
MINUTES of the meeting held at Fire and Rescue Services HQ, Bestwood Lodge, Arnold
Nottingham NG5 8PD on 28 February 2020 from 10.33 am - 12.10 pm
Membership
Present
Councillor Michael Payne (Chair)
Councillor Andrew Brown
Councillor John Clarke
Councillor Vaughan Hopewell
Councillor John Longdon
Councillor Mike Quigley MBE (minutes
56-70 inclusive)
Councillor Jonathan Wheeler
Councillor Sybil Fielding
Councillor Parry Tsimbiridis
Councillor Sue Saddington
Councillor Jawaid Khalil
Councillor Gul Nawaz Khan
Councillor Salma Mumtaz
Councillor Toby Neal (Vice Chair)
Councillor Shuguftah Quddoos
Councillor Nick Raine
Councillor Stuart Wallace

Absent
Councillor Jason Zadrozny

Also in attendance
Paddy Tipping, Nottinghamshire Police and Crime Commissioner

Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:
John Buckley
Ian Pritchard
Malcolm Townroe
Charlotte Radford
Becky Smeathers
Catherine ZianePryor

-

Chief Fire Officer
Assistant Chief Officer
Clerk and Monitoring Officer to the Fire Authority
Treasurer to the Fire Authority
Head of Finance
Governance Officer

1

Page 3

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - 28.02.20

53

Apologies for absence

Councillor Jason Zadrozny – on County Council business

54

Declarations of interests

John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, and Ian Prichard, Assistant Chief Officer, both declared
personal interests with regard to the ‘Provided Car Scheme’ agenda item (minute 66), insofar as
any decision would have a direct impact on each, stating that they intended to withdraw from the
meeting for the duration of that item.

55

Minutes

Subject to removing Councillor John Clark’s name from the ‘in attendance’ list, the minutes of
the meeting held on 20 December 2019 were confirmed as a true record and signed by the
Chair.

56

Chair's Announcements

The Service has been very busy over the past few months with widespread flooding and several
serious fires at Sutton in Ashfield, Worksop, and Retford. The Chair thanked all staff involved,
particularly those in Fire Control who were extremely busy throughout the storm period. Thanks
to the Service were also received from the Police, Local Authorities and the Environment
Agency, including for the support of residents and livestock.
John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer provided a brief update to members on flooding issues for
which the Service focused on rescue and limitation, but did not have capacity for property
protection. Response was further complicated due to road closures, planned and due to
flooding, of the A617, Kelham Bridge, A52 and Gunthorpe Bridge. However, resources were
relocated to enable continuity of service and the cross-partner approach was a credit to all staff.
The Chair has written with condolences to the Chief and Chair of the West Midlands Fire
Service following the suicide of one of their firefighters. Mental health is a real challenge for the
sector and wider society. NFRS is dedicated to do everything possible for employees, including
promotion of ‘it’s okay not to be okay’ and support for stress, whether caused by work or in
domestic life.
Both the Chair and Chief will attend an event in March hosted by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate’s
for Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS). The next inspection will
commence in July and conclude with a visit to the Service in December.
Following the general election, James Brokenshire MP has been appointed Minister of State
with ministerial responsibility for security. Having previously been Secretary of State for Local
Government, he has an understanding of the issues facing the sector following the Grenfell Fire
and Inquiry.

Page 4

2

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - 28.02.20

The Chair has written to the Chancellor emphasising the need to consider the immediate and
longer term Fire and Rescue Service budgets, including the comprehensive spending review of
the ongoing work in fire prevention and improving safety in the built environment.
The Police Crime Commissioner Statutory Instrument has now been passed in the House of
Commons which enables Police and Crime Commissioners to be full members of Fire
Authorities, with full voting rights. A report will be brought to the AGM to formalise this
arrangement.
Finally, a staff engagement event is scheduled at the rising of the Fire Authority meeting on 24
July 2020, to which members are welcome. A members’ seminar will be held on 16 September,
more information will follow. Treasury Management training will take place at the rising of the
Fire Authority meeting on 25 September 2020.

57

Change of Date for the Annual General Meeting

Resolved to change the date of the annual general meeting from Friday five June to
Friday, 12 June 2020.

58

Prudential Code for Capital Finance 2020/21

Becky Smeathers, Head of Finance, presented the report which informs members of the
Authority’s obligations under the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance, provides
assurance that these obligations are being met, and seeks approval for the proposed capital
plans, prudential limits and monitoring processes, as set out in the report.
Resolved to approve the following:
a)

Prudential limits for 2020/21:
Maximum ratio of Financing Costs to Net
Revenue Stream

8%

Estimated Ratio of Financing Costs to Net
Revenue Stream

5.3%

Estimate of Total Capital Expenditure to be
Incurred

£5,576,000

Estimate of Capital Financing Requirement

£29,073,000

Operational Boundary

£31,850,000

Authorised Limit

£35,035,000

Upper limit for fixed rate interest exposures

100%

Upper limit for variable rate interest
exposures

30%

Loan Maturity:

Limits:

Under 12 months

Upper 20% Lower 0%

3

Page 5

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - 28.02.20

12 months to 5 years

Upper 30% Lower 0%

5 years to 10 years

Upper 75% Lower 0%

Over 10 years

Upper 100% Lower 0%

Over 20 years

Upper 100% Lower 30%

Upper Limit for Principal Sums Invested for
Periods Longer than 365 Days
b)

£2,000,000

local indicators for 2020/21:
Upper limit for internal borrowing as a % of
the Capital Financing Requirement
Limit for proportion of net debt to gross debt

20%
Upper 85% Lower 50%

Investment security benchmark: maximum
historic default risk of investment portfolio
Investment liquidity benchmark: maximum
weighted average life of investment portfolio
Investment yield benchmark

59

0.08%
0.40 years
Internal returns to be above
3 month LIBID rate

Treasury Management Strategy 2020/21

Becky Smeathers, Head of Finance, presented the report which sets out for approval the
proposed Treasury Management Strategy for 2020/21 and the Minimum Revenue Provision
Policy for 2020/21.
Responses to Members’ questions included:
a)

With regard to the ‘over borrowing’ position in March 2019, the Service receives a grant
in July and council tax contributions in 10 blocks. A cash shortfall is predicted in February
and March so short term borrowing us used to ease the cash flow during March. This is
only short-term borrowing for a matter of weeks;

b)

Any longer term borrowing is split across the year and generally only considered if
interest rates decline and following the advice of Link Asset Management. There are only
usually two or three lots of borrowing in the year but this does depend on the level of
capital expenditure.

Resolved to approve:
a)

the Treasury Management Strategy 2020/21 as set out in this report;

b)

the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 2020/21 as set out in paragraphs 2.52 to
2.55 in the report;

Page 6

4

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - 28.02.20

c)

a treasury management training session at the rising of the full Fire Authority on
25 September 2020.

60

Budget Proposals for 2020/21 to 2023/24 and Options for Council Tax
2020/21

As Chair of the Finance and Resources Committee, Councillor John Clarke, thanked the
Committee’s members and all members of the Finance Team for their hard work and dedication,
stating that the Service is now in a good financial position but caution needs to be exercised
with regard to the potential impact of coronavirus on financial markets, adding that this will be
carefully tracked.
Becky Smeathers, Head of Finance, presented the report which:
i.

proposes Revenue and Capital Budgets for 2020/21 to 2023/24, including the
recommendation of the Finance and Resources Committee regarding the Council Tax
precept (with the predicted impact of different potential levels of Central Government
funding, along with a zero council tax rise, or a 1.95% Council Tax rise);

ii.

sets out Fees and Charges for 2020/21;

iii.

seeks approval for the continuation of the approved members’ allowances scheme; and

iv.

provides a statement from the Treasurer to the Authority.

The Chair thanked all members, the Finance Team and members of the Finance and
Resources Committee for their response to challenging financial situations, and also to political
group leaders for their contribution and support. The impact on frontline staffing is
acknowledged but if the recommendation of the Finance and Resources Committee is accepted
with a council tax increase of 1.95%, the Service will be in a relatively healthy financial position,
without using reserves or implementing further cuts, whilst having minimal impacts on citizens
and providing important frontline services and prevention work.
Questions from members were responded to as follows:
a)

The final settlement for pensions is still yet to be determined, but the Local Government
Association is looking at the potential outcomes, including a potential additional costs and
the possibility of Central Government support. A final decision is not expected before 2022
although the final impact on the Service could be extended for more than 40 years. The
McCloud judgement and on-going uncertainties will also impact on the new, and yet to be
determined, pensions administration contract in that there will be additional costs due to
the additional complexities, but all additional costs will be closely monitored and fed into
the budget process;

Members of the Authority acknowledged the hard work and engagement across the Service
which has resulted in the achievement of a balanced budget.
Members voting in favour of implementing a 1.95% increase of Council Tax precept are:

5

Page 7

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - 28.02.20

Councillor Michael Payne (Chair)
Councillor Toby Neal (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Andrew Brown
Councillor John Clarke
Councillor Sybil Fielding
Councillor Vaughan Hopewell
Councillor Gul Nawaz Khan
Councillor Jawaid Khalil
Councillor John Longdon
Councillor Salma Mumtaz
Councillor Mike Quigley MBE
Councillor Shuguftah Quddoos
Councillor Nick Raine
Councillor Sue Saddington
Councillor Parry Tsimbiridis
Councillor Stuart Wallace
Councillor Jonathan Wheeler
Members absent: Councillor Jason Zadrozny
Resolved:
1)

to approve the recommendation of the Finance and Resources Committee that there
is a 1.95% Council Tax increase;

2)

to approve for the 2020/21 precept level to be notified to the Billing Authorities
based on the information set out in Section 2 and Appendix D to the report, as
required by statute;

3)

to approve the fees and charges for 2020/21, as set out in Appendix E to the report:

4)

to approve the payment of Members’ Allowances for 2020/21 in accordance with the
approved scheme.

61

Transformation and Efficiency Strategy

John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which sets out the strategy to transform
the Service by increasing efficiency, effectiveness and productivity, using the Transformation
and Collaboration Reserve of £1.4m. This strategy has been established as a result of points
raised in the HMICFRS inspection and the Grenfell Tower Inquiry.
The Chair and Vice-Chair, along with members of the Authority, welcomed the comprehensive
approach and the intention for closer partnership working which builds on many aspects of
current good practice.
Resolved
1)

to agree the approach of the Chief Fire Officer to target resources over the next two
years in line with the transformational work stream as identified within the report;

Page 8

6

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - 28.02.20

2)

62

to agree to receive updates on the expected efficiency and effectiveness outcomes.
Strategic Plan (Integrated Risk Management Plan) Refresh

John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which seeks the Authority’s approval of
the refreshed Strategic Plan and the Year Two Action Plan which reflects the changes within the
Service during the past year.
Resolved
1)

to approve the refreshed Strategic Plan (Integrated Risk Management Plan) as
attached as Appendix A to the report;

2)

to approve the Year Two Action Plan as attached as Appendix B to the report.

63

Wellbeing Strategy 2020-22

John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which is in response to comments made
following the HMICFRS inspection that although the Service is already providing good health
and well-being employee support, the individual elements needed to be combined within one
strategy.
Although there is to be no change in delivery and approach, the well-being strategy focuses on
the core aspects of mental wellness, communication, fitness for role, and healthy lifestyle.
Resolved to approve the Wellbeing Strategy 2020/22 to promote health, well-being and
fitness as part of the Service’s commitment to its employees.

64

Appointment of Assistant Chief Fire Officer

Councillor Michael Payne, Chair of the Appointments Committee, presented the report with the
recommendation of the Appointments Committee, that following the robust selection process,
Candida Brudenell is appointed Assistant Chief Fire Officer with effect from 1 June 2020.
A good field of candidates underwent a rigorous application process including a technical test,
stakeholder interview, a media test, psychometric testing and an interview by the Appointments
Committee. The process throughout was well supported by recruitment consultants Gatenby
Sanderson, and although the quality of candidates was extremely high, the decision of the
Appointments Committee to appoint Candida Brudenell, was unanimous.
The Service has undertaken significant investments with regard to diversity, and although not
the primary driver, the appointment of a female to a high level post in the Service, sends a
positive message across the City and County.
Responses to members’ questions and comments of Appointments Committee members
included:

7

Page 9

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - 28.02.20

a)

There will be a standard six-month probation period, during which any appointee is
required to prove that they are fit to undertake the role and any gaps in the skill sets can
be addressed. With regard to operational practices, Candida will spend time training at a
national level but also on the stations to gain a practical understanding;

b)

there is every confidence that Candida will move effectively into the operational role with
internal and external training and also support from the Chief Fire Officer and Deputy Chief
Fire Officer, and a temporary six-week overlap in post for a handover from Ian Prichard as
the current Assistant Chief Fire Officer;

c)

Candida performed well throughout the selection process and has 30 years of experience
working for the City Council, during which time she has worked her way up to Assistant
Chief Executive. It is wholly believed that she will be an asset to the Service;

d)

Although conscious that she does not have a background in the Fire Service, Candida is
keen to gain an understanding from the grass roots up, including at a practical operational
level, and brings with her high-level experience in corporate performance and strategy and
a mind-set ideally placed to support recommendations and desired direction of HMICFRS
inspectors.

Resolved
1)

to approve the appointment of Ms Candida Brudenell to the position of Assistant
Chief Fire Officer with effect from 1 June 2020, as recommended by the
Appointments Committee;

2)

to record the thanks of the Authority and Service to Ian Prichard for his time as
Assistant Chief Fire Officer, during which he often went beyond the duties of the
role.

65

Permanent Changes to the Establishment

John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, presented the report with the recommendation of the Human
Resources Committee, to make permanent changes to the establishment, for the reasons set
out within the report.
Resolved to approve the recommendation of the Human Resources Committee, to
establish the following roles:
a)

an iTrent Development Support Officer;

b)

Specialist Home Safety Operatives.

66

Provided Car Scheme

Prior to the Authority’s consideration of this item, John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer and Ian
Prichard, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, withdrew from the meeting and for the duration of the
item, having declared personal interests within minute 54, and returned to the room once
consideration of the item had concluded.

Page 10

8

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - 28.02.20

Malcolm Townroe, Clerk and Monitoring Officer to the Authority, presented the report which
recommends changes to the Principal Officers Provided Car Scheme to align with current
Service values and strategies.
In response to questions from members, assurance was provided that more environmentally
friendly model vehicles, appropriate to meet the performance and efficiency needs of the
Service would be sourced and purchased (which provided better value than leasing) with
predicted standard service life of three years.
Resolved to approve the revisions to the Principal Officers Provided Car Scheme as
articulated in section 2.7 of the report.

67

Grenfell Enquiry Government Response

John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, introduced the report which provides members with a summary
of the Government’s response to recommendations of the Phase One Grenfell Tower Inquiry.
The following points were highlighted and responses provided to questions from members:
a)

It is noted that there is nothing within the report which impacts on how the Service
operates and that all current procedures and policies will remain in place;

b)

The ‘stay put’ approach is a building management specific policy and not that of the Fire
and Rescue Services;

c)

Currently there is only one building within the City which retains the cladding of concern
and work is underway to replace this;

d)

The proposed Fire Safety Bill will address some of the issues identified by the Inquiry and
will provide Fire and Rescue Services with the power to test cladding for combustible
materials but it is not yet clear on how resources to facilitate this will be provided;

e)

NFRS has taken very proactive approach with senior Prevention Officers, including
Damien West, Head of Prevention, Protection and Fire Investigation, taking an active role
on the National Fire Chiefs Council Protection group.

A Member of the Authority with industry experience, expressed great concern that whilst ACM
cladding is the focus of concern, HPL cladding is far more combustible than that used on
Grenfell Tower and yet is not currently recognised by Central Government as a significant risk.
The Chair commented that whilst the £600 million made available by Central Government to
remove unsafe cladding from high-rise residential homes is welcomed, there are reports that
leaseholders of affected buildings have been required to bear the cost of works. This is not
appropriate as it is not their fault. As such the Chair intends to write to the Chancellor to
emphasise this point which impacts on some residents within the City.
Resolved
1)

to note the report;

9

Page 11

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - 28.02.20

2)

68

to agree to receive further updates as the Government enact the actions outlined in
their response.
Committee Outcomes

John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which provides the minutes of the
following sub-committees:
Community Safety Committee 17 January 2020
Finance and Resources Committee 17 January 2020
Human Resources Committee 24 January 2020
Policy and Strategy Committee 31 January 2020
Appointments Committee 04 February 2020
Resolved to note the contents of the report.

69

Exclusion of the Public

RESOLVED to exclude the public from the meeting during consideration of the remaining
item in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, under
Schedule 12A, Part 1, Paragraph 3, on the basis that, having regard to all the
circumstances, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public
interest in disclosing the information.

70

Update to the Joint Headquarters LLP

John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which updates Authority Members on the
Joint Headquarters LLP (Limited Liability Partnership) agreement.
Paddy Tipping, Police and Crime Commissioner, again emphasised that this was to be a joint
Police and Fire Service Headquarters base which will belong to both organisations.
Resolved to approve the recommendations as set out in the report.

Page 12

10

Agenda Item 5

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham
Fire and Rescue Authority

REVENUE, CAPITAL AND
PRUDENTIAL CODE MONITORING
REPORT TO 31 JULY 2020
Report of the Chief Fire Officer
Date:

11 September 2020

Purpose of Report:
To report to Members on the financial performance of the Service in the year 2020/21
to the end of July 2020.
Recommendations:
That Members note the contents of this report.

CONTACT OFFICER

Name :

Becky Smeathers
Head of Finance

Tel :

0115 967 0880

Email :

becky.smeathers@notts-fire.gov.uk

Media Enquiries
Contact :

Vicky Brown
(0115) 967 0880 vicky.brown@notts-fire.gov.uk

Page 13

1.

BACKGROUND

1.1

Budget monitoring is a key aspect of financial management for the Fire
Authority. Regular reporting of spending against the revenue budgets is
a check that spending is within available resources and if necessary,
allows for financial resources to be re-assigned to meet changing
priorities.

1.2

This report covers those areas with a higher risk of significant variance.
An assessment of this risk has been made in the light of the size of the
budgets selected and/or previous experience of variances, as well as
the emergence of actual variances. It is vital that an overview of the
budgetary position during the year is maintained, so that appropriate
action can be taken in respect of significant variances and the budget is
managed as a whole.

1.3

Monitoring against the revised prudential indicators is also included in
this report, as required in the Prudential Code published by the
Chartered Institute of Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA).

2

REPORT

REVENUE BUDGET
2.1

The revenue monitoring position is set out in Table 1 below. It shows a
forecast outturn position of £44.429m, a £1.237m underspend against the
revised budget of £45.666m. £507k of the underspend relates to the
Section 31 grant for Covid-19 which has not all yet been allocated. The
remaining £729k largely relates to vacancies in wholetime pay pending
recruitment (see section 2.5).

2.2

The original budget approved by members in February 2020 reflected the
planned use of £274k of earmarked reserves. In addition to this, a further
£501k is planned to be drawn down from earmarked reserves during the
year to fund expenditure incurred. A summary position of expenditure and
funding is shown in the table below:
Table 1 – Summary Expenditure and Funding Position

Net Expenditure
RSG/Council
Tax/Business Rates
General Fund Reserves

2020/21
Budget
£’000
45,165

Revised
Budget
£’000
45,666

Forecast
Outturn
£’000
44,429

Variance

(44,891)

(44,891)

(44,891)

0

0

0

730

730

507

507

Covid-19 Grant Reserve
Earmarked Reserves
Total
Page 14

£’000
(1,237)

(274)

(775)

(775)

(0)

0

0

0

0

2.3

A more detailed analysis of expenditure can be found at Appendix A.

2.4

Major variances on specific budgets are shown below.

2.5

WHOLETIME PAY: total wholetime pay is forecast to underspend by
£885k. This has been caused due to a higher than anticipated level of
vacancies due to the wholetime training course being later than originally
anticipated. In the first 4 months there is an average of 10 vacant posts and
this is anticipated to continue. Vacancies are anticipated to increase to 23
unfilled posts by the end of the financial year. Due to Covid-19 the
wholetime training course is not due to commence until April 2021. The
impact of the under establishment will be offset by 14 individuals migrating
from On Call during September and October. An element of the under
establishment will be offset by increased overtime which will be necessary
to cover vacancies. Alternative ways of increasing the cover are also being
explored which may further utilise anticipated underspends. This situation
will be carefully managed and future reports presented to Members as
appropriate.

2.6

ON-CALL PAY: overall, on-call pay is anticipated to overspend by £187k
against the original budget, but £55k of this directly relates to additional
costs that can be offset by the Covid -19 grant. There has also been a high
level of payments brought on by the increased availability as people being
furloughed from their primary employment. This also impacts on
superannuation and national insurance expenditure. Community safety
work has reduced as a result of Covid-19 preventing access to homes.
However, this has been offset by increased level of turnouts to support the
community in different ways, such as the delivery of medicines and food
parcels.

2.7

NON-UNIFORMED PAY: non-uniformed pay is expected to underspend by
£64k (after compensating for secondment income relating to staff seconded to
HMICFRS -Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue
Services and posts being funded from the Earmarked Reserves). The budget
for non-uniformed pay assumed that staff would receive a pay award of 2%.
The latest offer made by the National Employers is for 2.75%, this has been
reflected in the outturn. The average vacancies over the period up to July is 6
and these have been reflected in the outturn. Established posts that have
been revised through the Job evaluation process have resulted in a part year
effect of £4k to date this will be reviewed in the budget process for 2020-21.

2.8

PENSION COSTS: the forecast underspend of £79k relates to ill health
charges. The level of ill health charges varies from year to year and can be
difficult to forecast. The forecast is based on ill health retirements that have
been approved so far, this year. No other cases are anticipated at this
stage but it is possible that there could be more ill health retirements later in
the year. Should this occur the forecast will be amended accordingly.

2.9

TRAINING COSTS: the forecasted underspend of £75k relates to the
reduction in external training due to Covid-19 and the possibility that future
training will be done online rather than face to face. This situation is being
addressed with the possibility of increased training levels later in the year.
Page 15

2.10 PREMISES COSTS: the forecasted overspend is £86k. £44k is due to the
business rates being higher than expected at budget time. In addition, the
cleaning budget is forecasted to overspend by £27k this is due to the
increased cleaning costs during Covid-19, this additional cost will be met from
the grant (section 2.14).
2.11 TRANSPORT COSTS: is forecasted to underspend by £95k, this is mainly
due to the travel related expenses being significantly reduced due to Covid-19
the forecasted underspend is £63k.
2.12 SUPPLIES AND SERVICES COSTS: the forecasted underspend is £31k.
Within this total there are several significant variances. Community safety
equipment and expenditure on smoke alarms is expected to underspend by
£41k, this is due to the reduction in the number of safe and well visits. It is
difficult now to know when the levels of activity will resume. Offsetting this
underspend are two areas of overspending. There is an anticipated
overspend of up to £18k on the external audit fees for the 2018/19
accounts.
2.13

SUPPLIES AND SERVICES COSTS: an £89k overspend is expected for
joint control charges from Derbyshire Fire and Rescue. This is due to
additional staff being employed to cover long-term sickness. It is assumed
at this stage this cover will continue for six months.

2.14

GOVERNMENT GRANTS: the Service has received additional funding for
Covid-19 of £1,058k. £191k was included in the 2019/20 outturn and a further
£867k has been received in 2020/21. The grant can only be allocated to
additional expenditure, so any redirection to staff from other duties, for
example, cannot be claimed. The current forecasted outturn for expenditure
which can be funded from the grant is £360k, this expenditure is contained
within the report and the remaining grant of £507k is within the Government
Grants.
Table 2 – Expenditure to be funded from Covid-19 Government Grant

Expenditure
Non-Uniformed Pay
Operational Pay and Overtime
On Call Firefighters Other Work
Cleaning Materials /
Decontamination Supplies
Operational Equipment Uniforms
and PPE
Recruitment / Return to Work
Costs / Consultancy
ICT Infrastructure and Licencing
Total

Page 16

Actual to
July £’000
9
5
47
23

Forecast
Outturn £’000
93
5
55
26

28

55

11

46

53
176

81
360

2.15 Work is being undertaken to identify key areas of work that will address the
ongoing risks of Covid-19 to ensure that the grant is used with best effect.
Expenditure is expected to rise later in the year.
2.16 It has been confirmed that the grant cannot be used to address the
potential shortfall in 2021/22 budgets caused by reduced collection rates for
Council Tax and Business Rates. The impact of this is expected to be in
the region of £750k for Council Tax and £200k for Business Rates. These
figures may increase if further lockdown measures are introduced. The
government have announced that the deficit can be split over three years
and indicated that some support will be made available as part of the
Comprehensive Spending Review. The situation will be monitored and the
impact on future year’s budgets will be addressed as part of the Medium
Term Financial Strategy when more information around the long-term
impact of Covid-19 and the settlement figures are available.
2.17 CAPITAL CHARGES: the total forecast overspend is £31k. Minimum
Revenue Provision is underspent by £16k due to the slippage of £4m from
the capital programme in 2019/20.
2.18 There is a forecasted deficit of £80k on interest receivable following a
significant drop in interest rates and the need to keep cash in shorter term
investments given the increased market uncertainty. Interest charges are
expected to overspend by £48k. This is due to the taking out loans earlier
than originally anticipated. The possibility of meeting these additional costs
from the Covid-19 grant is being investigated. Two loans totalling £3m
were taken from the Public Works Loans Board in March 2020 which took
advantage of the fall in loans rates brought about by the economic impact
of the pandemic. This had the additional advantage of securing the
Authority’s cash flow position at the beginning of the Covid-19 pandemic.
This borrowing, whilst within the Authority’s prudential limits, was taken
ahead of schedule. As a result of this, the interest costs had not been
factored into the budget.
RESERVES
2.19

Details of the use of reserves during 2020/21 can be found in Appendix B.

2.20 Expected levels of reserves at 31 March 2020 are £10.668m as detailed in
Table 3 below.

Page 17

Table 3 – Anticipated Movement in Reserves 2020/21

Reserves

Balance
01/04/20
£’000

Anticipated
Use 2020/21
£’000

Contributions from earmarked
reserves

4,327

(424)

Expected
Balance
31/03/21
£’000
3,903

Expected transfer to Covid-19
reserve

177

507

684

5,174

730

5,904

9,678

813

10,491

255

(78)

177

9,933

735

10,668

General Fund

1

Total
2

ESMCP Regional Reserve
Total
1
2

Provisional general fund figure
Emergency Services Mobile Communications Programme

2.21 The general reserve is predicted to be £5.904m at the end of the financial
year. This remains above the minimum level of £3.9m agreed by Fire
Authority in December 2020.
2.22 The Emergency Services Mobile Communications Programme (ESMCP)
regional reserve has been shown separately to those reserves held by the
Authority to reflect that the funds are to be allocated regionally and do not
belong to Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (NFRS).
CAPITAL PROGRAMME
2.23 The revised capital budget for 2020/21 is £5.873m.
2.24 The total capital spend to date is £963k and the forecast outturn expenditure
is £4.569m. The current capital programme is shown at Appendix C. The
most significant areas of variances are detailed below.
ICT
2.25 The ICT programme (£955k) has been developed from the Digital Strategy. It
includes replacement equipment and software and supports the specific
schemes which underpin the strategy. The budget is currently expected to be
fully spent by the end of the year.
ESTATES
2.26 The property programme flows directly out of the Property Strategy.
2.27 This project is progressing well. The joint legal entity has been created and
work has now started on site. Much of the building work on this project will be
undertaken during the 2020/21 financial year and early 2021/22.
2.28 Worksop Station - At the Policy and Strategy Committee meeting held on 1
May 2020 it was agreed the initial proposed site was no longer a workable
Page 18

option and the process of buying this land was to be abandoned. A further
site has now been identified and due diligence is ongoing before any formal
offer can be made.
EQUIPMENT
2.29 The service has received additional funding of £101k from central
government, because of the Grenfell Tower enquiry, this will be used to fund
the purchase of the smoke hoods (£38k).
2.30 The structural personal protection equipment (PPE) and lightweight jackets
are now operational and final payments are being made.
2.31 The CCTV project will be going out to tender in August and anticipated to be
awarded early October, this project will be completed by March 2021.
2.32 Air bag replacement: The project business case is now complete, trials will be
taking place shortly and it is anticipated that the project will be completed by
March 2021.
TRANSPORT
2.33 The fleet replacement programme is derived from the Fleet Strategy and
reflects current and future expected demand.
2.34 The Command Support Unit (CSU) is mobilised to assist with
communications, command and control at incidents which require the
attendance of five operational pumping appliances or more. At these
incidents, it is key that the ICT and other communications equipment function
correctly. The CSU has been modified to ensure that the technology and
communications software are sufficiently up to date to ensure it meets
national resilience requirements. The upgrade has cost £70k and has been
funded from an Earmarked Reserve created from funding received for
national resilience purposes.
PRUDENTIAL CODE MONITORING
2.35 The Fire Authority approved the prudential indicators for 2020/21 at its
meeting on 28 February 2020. Amendments were made to the authorised
limits and 12-month maturity profile at Policy and Strategy Committee on 1
May 2020 to address the financial impact of Covid-19. The Prudential Code
requires that performance against these indicators is reported to Members.
2.36

The approved indicators along with performance as at 31 July 2020 are
shown in the table below. There are some indicators which cannot be
calculated until the year end expenditure is known.

Page 19

Table 4 - Prudential Code Monitoring

Prudential Indicator

Approved
Indicator

As at 31
July 2020

Estimate of Ratio of Financing Costs to Net
Revenue Stream

5.3%

Year End
Only

Estimate of Total Capital Expenditure to be
Incurred

£5,576,000

Year End
Only

Actual Borrowing

£27,011,000

Estimate of Capital Financing Requirement

£29,073,000

£29,073,000

Operational Boundary

£33,850,000

£33,850,000

Authorised Limit

£37,035,000

£37,035,000

100%

100%

30%

30%

Upper limit for fixed rate interest exposures
Upper limit for variable rate interest exposures
Loan Maturity:

Limits:

Under 12 months

Upper 30%
Lower 0%

See Graph
Below

12 months to 5 years

Upper 30%
Lower 0%

See Graph
Below

5 years to 10 years

Upper 75%
Lower 0%

See Graph
Below

Over 10 years

Upper 100%
Lower 0%

See Graph
Below

Over 20 years

Upper 100%
Lower 30%

See Graph
Below

£2,000,000

0

20%

7.00%

Upper Limit for Principal Sums Invested for
Periods Longer than 365 Days
Upper limit for internal borrowing as a % of the
Capital Financing Requirement

2.37 Total borrowing at the end of July 2020 was £27.01m which is within the
operational and authorised limits set out above. Borrowing activity has
remained within these boundaries throughout the period covered by the
report. There has been no borrowing activity since the start of the financial
year.
2.38 The loan maturity profiles are all within the limits set. These are best
demonstrated by graph.

Page 20

Loan Maturity Profile at 31 July 2020
100
90
80
70

%

60
Upper Limit

50

Lower Limit

40

Actual %

30
20
10
0
Under 12
Months

12 Months to 5 Years to 10 10 Years to 20 Over 20 Years
5 Years
Years
Years

2.39 Investments as at 31 July 2020 totalled £14.5m. Investment rates are
monitored within the benchmarking group supported by Link Asset Services.
There are seven councils and NFRS within the group. As at the end of July
2020, NFRS weighted average rate of return is 0.18%, the average of the
group is 0.39%.
3.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

The financial implications are set out in the body of the report.
4.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
IMPLICATIONS

There are no Human Resources or Learning and Development implications
arising directly from this report. Some of the efficiency targets will have had
staffing implications which were considered as part of the decision-making
process at the time.
5.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken because this report is not
associated with a policy, function or service. Its purpose is to explain variances to the
approved budget which reflects existing policies.

Page 21

6.

CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.
7.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no legal implications arising directly from this report.
8.

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

Budget monitoring and the regular receipt of financial reports is key to managing one
of the most significant risks to the organisation, that of financial risk. The process of
budget monitoring is a key risk management control measure, as are the
management actions which are stimulated by such reporting.
9.

COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS

This report identifies several areas where collaboration is taking place between
NFRS, other fire authorities, East Midland Ambulance Service and Nottinghamshire
Police. Opportunities for collaboration around asset use and ownership are
continually being investigated.
10.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That Members note the contents of this report.
11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED
DOCUMENTS)

None.

John Buckley
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER

Page 22

APPENDIX A

REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING POSITION
AS AT 31 JULY 2020
Budget Area

Annual
Budget
£’000

Revised
Budget
£’000

Exp to
Date
£’000

Forecast
Outturn
£’000

(Under) /
Over
Spend
Against
Revised
budget

35,942

36,357

11,806

35,482

£’000
(876)

Premises

2,564

2,564

1,097

2,650

86

Transport

1,637

1,637

1,081

1,542

(95)

Supplies & Services

3,508

3,581

1,742

3,550

(31)

Third Party

783

783

15

872

88

Support Services

191

191

126

191

0

Capital Financing Costs

2,537

2,548

1,675

2,581

32

Fees and Charges

(405)

(405)

(70)

(402)

3

Other Income

(1,592)

(1,592)

(2,686)

(2,037)

(445)

Net Cost

45,165

45,666

14,787

44,429

(1,238)

Government Funding

(12,699)

(12,699)

(2,465)

(12,699)

0

Non-Domestic Rates

(3,778)

(3,778)

(3,103)

(3,778)

0

(26,074)

(26,074)

(7,822)

(26,074)

0

(2,340)

(2,340)

0

(2,340)

0

0

0

0

1,237

1,237

(274)

(775)

(500)

(775)

0

(45,165)

(45,666)

(13,890)

(44,429)

1,237

0

0

897

0

0

Employees

Financed by:

Council Tax
Pension Grant
Reserves/Covid-19
Reserve
Earmarked Reserves
Funding Total
Total

Page 23

APPENDIX B

ESTIMATED RESERVE POSITION AT 31 MARCH 2021
Reserve

Opening Balance Movement During
01/4/20
2020/21
£’000
£’000
252
(1)

Prevention,
Protection and
Partnership
Resilience

Closing Balance
31/3/21
£’000
251

333

(84)

249

Capital

1,037

0

1,037

Information,
Communication
and Technology
(ICT)

1,130

(64)

1,066

188

(32)

156

177

507

684

1,387

(243)

1,144

255

(78)

177

Total Earmarked
Reserves

4,759

(4)

4,764

General Reserve

5,174

730

5,904

Total Reserves

9,933

228

10,668

Operational
Covid-19
Transformation
and Collaboration
Regional
Earmarked
Reserves*

* Emergency Services Mobile Communications Programme

Page 24

APPENDIX C
CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING JULY 2020

CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Original
Budget
2020/21

Approved
Changes
to Budget

Revised
Budget
2020/21

Expenditure

Remaining
Budget

Estimated
Outturn to
the end of
March 2021

Outturn
Variance

ICT & COMMUNICATIONS
HR System Upgrade

51

Business System Development

51

-51

51

20

20

-20

20

Business Process Automation

50

33

83

33

-50

83

Mobile Computing

75

25

100

13

-87

100

HQ - Link ICT Replacement
Cyber Security

100
20

ICT SharePoint Internet/Intranet
Performance Management System
ESMCP Grant from DCLG (ESN)
Tri-Service Control Project

100

-100

100

17

37

-37

37

26

26

-26

26

9

9

-9

9

41

41

-41

41

171

171

6

-165

171

Unit4 Business World Upgrade

37

37

8

-29

37

Covid 19 related expenditure

30

30

8

-22

30

250

40

-210

250

Replacement Equipment

250

546

409

955

108

-847

955

2,500

239

2,739

559

-2,180

1,965

40

40

-40

40

100

600

13

-587

50

10

10

4

-6

10

11

158

169

1

-168

169

3,011

547

3,558

578

-2,981

2,234

ESTATES

Joint Headquarters Project
Refurbishment and Rebuilding Fire
Stations

Worksop Fire, Police and Ambulance
Station Project (capital – strategic new
build project)

500

Newark Fire Station
Hucknall Fire Station

Page 25

-774

-550

-1,324

CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Original
Budget
2020/21

Approved
Changes
to Budget

Revised
Budget
2020/21

Expenditure

Remaining
Budget

Estimated
Outturn to
the end of
March 2021

Outturn
Variance

EQUIPMENT
CCTV - vehicles
Structural PPE
Helmets

40

Lightweight Fire Coat
Air Bag Replacements

160
230
170

200
230
170

74

74
70

110

634

744

226

172

398
70
148

70

95

70
53

321

295

616

3,988

1,885

5,873

70

-200
-52
-170

200
230
170

30

-44
-70

74
70

208

-536

744

-398

418

-148

70
148

70

-546

636

963

-4,910

178

TRANSPORT
Vans & Other Light Vehicles
Resilience Crewing and
Training - Earmarked Reserves
Rescue Pumps

TO BE FINANCED BY

Estimated
Outturn

Actual

Capital Grant - General

0

0

Capital Grant - TriService Control
Emergency Services Mobile
Communications -Earmarked Reserve
ICT SharePoint Internet/Intranet Earmarked Reserve

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

100

Earmarked Reserve
Community Fire Safety - Innovation Fund

78

78

Capital Receipts - Property

0

520

Capital Receipts - Vehicles

0

0

New Borrowing

885

3,866

Internal Financing

0

Revenue contributions to capital

0

5

963

4569

Total

Page 26

0

20

20

4,569 -1,304

Agenda Item 6

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham
Fire and Rescue Authority

ANNUAL STATEMENT OF
ASSURANCE 2019-20
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

Date:

11 September 2020

Purpose of Report:
To present the Annual Statement of Assurance 2019-20 to Members for approval.

Recommendations
That Members approve the Annual Statement of Assurance 2019-20.

CONTACT OFFICER

Name :

Candida Brudenell
Assistant Chief Fire Officer

Tel :

0115 967 0880

Email :

candida.brudenell@notts-fire.gov.uk

Media Enquiries
Contact :

Vicky Brown
0115 967 0880 vicky.brown@notts-fire.gov.uk

Page 27

1.

BACKGROUND

1.1

The Fire and Rescue Service National Framework places a statutory
requirement on fire authorities to provide assurance on financial, governance
and operational matters, with due regard to the expectations set out in their
Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP).

1.2

The production of an Annual Statement of Assurance (ASoA) contributes to
the requirement for greater public-sector transparency and accountability and
through its publication offers and promotes accessibility to information.

2.

REPORT

2.1

The ASoA 2019-20 provides a review of how the Service has performed
against the Year 1 ambitions of the 2019-2022 Strategic Plan (IRMP) and
accompanying Annual Action Plan.

2.2

The format of the 2019-20 ASoA, which is the first of three annual assurance
statements that will provide ongoing assurance against the delivery of the
Strategic Plan 2019-2021, is notably different to previous years. This is to
make the document more engaging and reader friendly. The new format also
makes it easier to reference key facts, information and performance
information.

2.3

The ASoA will be hosted on the Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service
(NFRS) Internet in ‘Webpage’ format. It will be the first Service document
hosted in this format. Information presented in this way will make it more
accessible for members of the public who use assistive technology and allows
modern browsers to translate it into multiple different languages, making it
available to a wider audience.

2.4

The ASoA signposts (in the form of links) supporting information that can be
accessed on the NFRS website or Fire Authority webpages, for example, the
Strategic Plan, Safer Communities Strategy and the Statement of Accounts.

2.5

The ASoA gives an overview of the organisational performance over the 201920 business year. It references a number of achievements that the Authority
should be proud of. These include:
•

Delivering against the ten stated Strategic Plan Year 1 strategic objectives,
including; approval for and starting the Joint HQ collaboration with
Nottinghamshire Police and delivering the Joint Fire Control project;

•

Completing and opening the new tri-service station at Hucknall;

•

Making savings of over £600k;

Page 28

2.6

3.

•

Responding to 9,658 emergency incidents;

•

Meeting the response standard, to respond to incidents, from mobilisation,
on average, within eight minutes;

•

Increasing On-Call availability from 84% to 86%;

•

Delivering 7,752 safe and well visits, notably and increase of 45% against
the previous year;

•

Reducing attendance to false alarms to 3,975. A decrease of 11%;

•

Seeing accidents in the workplace falling by 21%;

•

Having 99.5% of operational staff successfully complete their annual
fitness test.

The ASoA details notable achievements, and this would not have been
possible without the combined efforts from staff across the Service.
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no financial implications arising from this report.
4.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
IMPLICATIONS

There are no human resources or learning and development implications arising from
this report.
5.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken as this report does not
change policy or service delivery functions.
6.

CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.
7.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

The requirement to produce an Annual Statement of Assurance is a statutory
requirement as directed by the Fire Service National Framework Document.

Page 29

8.

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

There are no risk management implications arising from this report.
9.

COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS

There are no collaboration implications arising from this report.
10.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That Members approve the Annual Statement of Assurance 2019-20.
11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED
DOCUMENTS)

None.

John Buckley
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER

Page 30

Annual Report
Statement of Assurance
2019/20

Page 31

Contents

Page 32

Introduction
Welcome to our Statement of Assurance for 2019/20
The Fire and Rescue Service National Framework for England requires
us to report each year on progress against our Strategic Plan. We do
this through our Annual Statement of Assurance, which provides the
public and other stakeholders with information about our performance
over the last 12 months.
On 1 April 2019, following a period of public consultation, we launched
our Strategic Plan 2019-22, which outlines how we will deliver on our
vision of creating safer communities.
During Year One of this plan we have delivered some significant
strategic projects, including:
•

Setting up a Joint Fire Control in collaboration with Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service;

•

Delivering the final phase of our SharePoint Strategy, making it easier for teams to manage and
share information;

•

Embedding National Operational Guidance within our ways of working and training;

•

Signing off plans for a new Joint Headquarters with Nottinghamshire Police and obtaining
planning consent for the building work.

At the same time, we have maintained our focus on preventing incidents, protecting and responding
to you. We have:
•

Substantially increased the number of safe and well visits for our more vulnerable residents;

•

Expanded our capacity to undertake fire safety inspections;

•

Improved the availability of on-call appliances;

•

Achieved our target average attendance time in responding to emergencies.

In June 2019, we received feedback from HMICFRS following our first full inspection in February
2019. Whilst the inspectors rated our protection work and response to national risks as ‘good’, they
also identified areas for improvement within all three pillars of the inspection framework. We have a
detailed action plan in place and are already making good progress in addressing the issues raised.
Personally, and on behalf of the Fire Authority, we would like to thank all our staff and partners for
their hard work in the last 12 months. It is this continued collective approach which enables us to
achieve our vision of creating safer communities.
You can read more about the service we have provided and our achievements over the last 12
months in this Statement of Assurance and by following the links to other published documents on
our website and the Fire Authority web pages that are contained within.

‘Fire and rescue authorities must provide annual assurance on financial, governance and
operational matters and show how they have had due regard to the expectations set out in their
integrated risk management plan and the requirements included in the Framework. To provide
assurance, fire and rescue authorities must publish an annual statement of
assurance’.
Page
33

Department for
Communities and
Local Government

Key Achievements 2019/20

Incident numbers fell to 9,658 from 11,235 in
2018/19.

14%

Safe and well visits increased to 7,752 from
4,219 in 2018/19.

45%

Joint Headquarters project was approved and
started in 2019/20.
Joint Nottinghamshire/Derbyshire Fire
Control project completed.
Accidents in the workplace fell to 41 from 52
in 2018/19.

21%

Fitness tests were passed by 99.5% of
operational staff compared to 98.9% in 2018/19.
Availability of On-Call appliances increased
to an average 86% from 84% in 2018/19.
False alarms reduced to 3,975 from 4,475 in
2018/19.

2%

11%

Tri-service station at Hucknall was
completed and opened.
‘Sit-Up Service’ provided night-time shelter for
homeless people during freezing temperatures.
We made £600k of savings during 2019/20.
Page 34

35
People

Strategic Plan: Year 1 Priorities

Nottinghamshire Fire and
Rescue Service has a vision of
creating safer communities,
which is at the heart of
everything we do. It shapes our
strategic plan and objectives
and is underpinned by our core
values.

Each year we define an annual Action
Plan which identifies the strategic
actions we will focus on in support of
our Strategic Plan. In this first year of
the 2019-22 Strategic Plan we identified
ten strategic actions. Of these, three are
major projects which will take two or
more years to complete.
In addition to the Strategic Action Plan,
every department has an annual
business plan, which sets out the
priorities and objectives for their teams
for the year. These plans focus on
delivering and continuously improving
the services we provide to our
communities.
Please click here to see
our Strategic Plan.

Page 35

Strategic Plan Year One Strategic Actions
Joint Headquarters Collaboration Programme. This is the largest
collaboration project to date between Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service
(NFRS) and Nottinghamshire Police. NFRS will move from Bestwood Lodge to a
new joint headquarters at Sherwood Lodge. During 2019-20 we approved the
building plans, obtained planning consent and appointed a contractor. This is a
three-year strategic action which is on track for completion in 2022.

Implement Joint Fire Control with Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service.
This project saw Nottinghamshire Fire Control move to Ascot Drive Fire Station in
Derby. The move is designed to improve collaboration and understanding between
our Services whilst delivering efficiency and financial savings going forward. The
new Joint Fire Control went live in July 2019. This project is now complete.

Consider the Outcomes and Develop a Plan for Implementation of the
Equipment Review. In order to ensure that equipment and resources are kept up
to date, and fit for purpose, we conducted a review to ensure that we can respond
to incidents as effectively and efficiently as possible. This project is complete.

Respond to the Outcomes of HMICFRS Inspection. Following our
inspection in February 2019, we are working hard to deliver the action plan to
address the areas identified as requiring improvement. Significant progress has
been made across all the areas for improvement. Eight have been fully completed
with the remainder due to be finished by the end of 2021.

Implement the Performance Management Framework (PMF). To improve
how we monitor and evaluate productivity and effectiveness we are developing and
implementing the PMF. We have delivered a new professional development review
(PDR) process for staff and improvements our performance reporting and
monitoring. This is two-year strategic action and is on track for completion in March
2021.

Embed National Operational Guidance Products. National Operational
Guidance (NOG) is designed to standardise operational ways of working for fire and
rescue services nationwide. This strategic action is complete, with guidance and
training packages now in use by operational crews across the Service to help them
to maintain their operational competencies.

Implement the Emergency Services Network (ESN) in Line with the
National Plan. The ESN is a communication network which will allow all
emergency services across the country to communicate more effectively with each
other at incidents. This is a three-year strategic action and is on track for completion
in 2022.

Review and Test Service Wide Business Continuity Arrangements.
During 2019-20 we reviewed our business continuity arrangements to ensure that
critical activities can be maintained in the event of any business disruption. The
Business Continuity Management System (BCMS) continues to provide assurance
to the Fire Authority’s stakeholders that arrangements are in place to meet critical
functions. This strategic action is now complete.

Commence Alignment of all Information Management Processes to
ISO27001 (Cyber Security). ISO27001 is the standard created by the
International Organisation for Standardization (ISO) which deals with Information
Security Management. It is a way of making sure that we are managing information
security risks effectively. This is a two-year strategic action, which is on track for
completion in 2021.

Complete the SharePoint Strategy and Delivery Programme. An
electronic document management system has been delivered to support the
organisation and its people by ensuring that information is available through
resilient and secure means, while providing improved collaborative working
between teams. This strategic action is now complete.

Page 36

Preventing Incidents
and Protecting You

Page 37

Prevention
We explain in our Strategic Plan how we
are going to make our communities safer
through prevention activities. We are
working closer than ever before with
colleagues in other agencies to support
early intervention for those who are most
vulnerable in Nottinghamshire.
Our targeted safe and well visits offer
information on a number of factors,
which may increase vulnerability to fire
or injury. These include smoking
cessation, alcohol addiction, falls
prevention and keeping warm in winter,
in addition to fire safety advice.
We have continued to refine our targeted
data-led approach and increased the
number and effectiveness of our visits.
The creation of evaluation and assurance
frameworks mean that we are monitoring
the effectiveness of our interventions
and therefore able to refine the work we
do as we aim to make every contact
count.

In 2019-20
•

We increased the number of safe and
well visits by 84%. We conducted 7752
visits, compared to 4219 in 2018-19.

•

53% of visits were delivered to people
over 65 and 33% were delivered to
people who considered themselves to
have a disability.

•

We increased the number of specialist
smoke detectors we installed for people
with hearing impairments by 126% to
1157, compared to 511 in 2018-19.

We conducted:
•

524 community safety initiatives and
school visits.

•

65 road safety events.

•

14 water safety initiatives.

Our intelligence-led CHARLIE profile
(which stands for Care and support,
Hoarding, Alcohol, Reduced mobility,
Lives alone, Inappropriate smoking,
Elderly) identifies the main contributory
factors which increase a person’s risk
from a fire in the home. We use this
profile to raise awareness with partners
and local organisations, to improve the
way that we are notified of people who
may be at risk within our communities
and in order to generate targeted ‘safe
and well’ visits.
If you think that you or someone you know is at risk from a
fire in the home, or would like further advice, please
contact……………………………………

If you think you or someone you know is at risk from a fire in the
home, please contact us on 01158388100

Page 38

Page 39

Protection
Our Fire Protection department plays a
significant role in keeping you safe.
The team is responsible for auditing
premises and enforcing fire safety
legislation.
We work with local businesses,
landlords and those responsible for
public buildings and other non-domestic
properties to ensure compliance with
safety regulations.
We carry out inspections, give advice
and where necessary serve
enforcement notices to ensure that the
buildings you use are as safe as they
should be.

In 2019-20 the team completed:
•

1045 fire safety audits

•

743 building consultations

•

460 specific inspections

•

316 licencing consultations

•

12 prohibition notices

•

31 enforcement (official) notices

•

252 follow-up inspections
(following notice of deficiency)

In 2019-20 we attended:
•

10% fewer non-domestic false
alarms than in 2018-19

•

5% fewer lift rescues than in
2018-19

We have continued to focus
resources on the higher risk
commercial premises through our
risk-based inspection programme.
The Protection Team has
continued to fulfil its statutory
duties aligned to the building
control process and those set out
within the Regulatory Reform (Fire
Safety) Order 2005 (FSO).
Enforcement officers have
continued to regulate the FSO on
the worst offending, non-compliant
premises.

In our first inspection, HMICFRS said we are good
at protecting the public through fire regulation.
Page 40

Page 41

In 2019/20

Response
You continue to be
served by 30 fire
appliances and 2 highreach aerial ladder
platforms deployed
from 24 fire stations
across the county.
8 wholetime stations
4 wholetime and on-call
stations
(2 of these mixed
crewing model)
12 on-call stations

B

The average time taken
for an appliance to
attend an emergency
incident, from the time it
was sent was 7 minutes
and 55 seconds. This is
within the 8-minute
target stated in our
Strategic Plan.

Page 42

• We attended 9,658 emergency
incidents, a significant reduction of
14% on 2018/19.
• We rescued 1,341 people from
buildings, vehicles, water, confined
spaces and height.
• There were 26% fewer fires than in
2018/19.
• We attended 559 road traffic
collisions, a slight increase of 3%
on 2018/19.
• We responded to 2,032 special
service calls, which is a slight
increase 0.3% on 2018/19. Such
calls include assisting the
Ambulance Service and
responding to flooding.
• Our on-call fire appliances were
available on average 85.85% of
the time, exceeding our target of
85%

National Resilience
In addition to the emergencies we respond to
within Nottinghamshire, at times of need we may
also be called upon to help communities in other
parts of the country as part of our ‘national
resilience’ responsibilities. This aspect of our
work was rated as ‘good’ by HMICFRS
inspectors.
In 2019-20, NFRS attended a variety of incidents
as part of this commitment. Notable examples
were the Whaley Bridge dam wall collapse in
August and the extensive flooding in Lincolnshire
during 2019.
Equipment
As we attend a wide range of emergencies, and
need to keep firefighters safe, it is vital that we
have the right equipment to professionally
respond. During 2019/20 we have replaced some
of our existing equipment.
•

•

•

•

Operational crews are now wearing new
personal protective equipment (PPE). The
new ‘firekit’ replaces the previous PPE which
had been in service for 10 years. Working with
other Services and following on from research
carried out by Kent Fire and Rescue Service,
we purchased the new kit through the National
Procurement Framework saving the
organisation time and valuable resources.

Operational staffing
Crews at Ashfield and Retford have completed their
first full year of working the new day-shift crewing
model.
We have strengthened our on-call workforce
through the recruitment of 17 new trainees Over a
third of operational staff are on-call firefighters and
devote time to keeping communities safe. It is
important that we do all we can to support and
develop this important part of our fire-cover
provision.
Through the course of our Strategic Plan 2019-22, it
is our aim to improve the availability of on-call
appliances to an average of 85%, with no station
falling below 70%. In 2019-20 the average
availability of on-call appliances was 85.85%.
Operational Training
Our crews train extensively to maintain their
competency and capability in order to carry out their
roles effectively and safely. We provide a blended
learning approach combining
•

A full programme of training activity at our
Service Development Centre.

•

A range of modules delivered through our eLearning platform, which ensures that technical
knowledge and guidance is readily available and
accessible to all employees.
A programme of training exercises, throughout
the year which helps to maintain operational
preparedness for the wide range of emergency
incidents which we may encounter. In 2019-20
our crews participated in 24 exercises. 8 of
these involved a multi-agency approach and
used resources from neighbouring fire and
rescue services. This preparation is vital to
ensure that in the event of an incident,
responders from all agencies can work together
effectively.
Incident command training to support and
develop current and future incident
commanders. This involves exposing them to
pressure situations in a controlled, safe
environment. We have maintained our ‘Centre of
Excellence’ status for XVR Incident Command
simulation and also gained Skills for Justice
Direct Claims accreditation.

•

New digital radios have increased clarity
during communication at incidents, meaning
important messages can be passed more
effectively.
In January we launched our new drone in a
joint venture with Nottinghamshire Police. In
the first three months, it has been used at 12
incidents, providing incident commanders
with a clearer picture of the situation, helping
them to make more detailed decisions and
keep the public and firefighters safe.
A new remote dual-thermal imaging camera is
now in operation which can be operated from
the aerial ladder platform. This gives us the
capability of assessing incidents at height
without putting personnel at unnecessary risk.

•

Page 43

High Quality Services

Operational Preparedness
During 2019-20 operational crews visited 206
sites across the county to collect information
about the risks which may be encountered there
during an incident. This is to assist us in
ensuring that our response is as safe as
possible for our crews and the public.
The Service has reviewed and updated, training
and guidance relating to high-rise building fires
and has reviewed the risk information that is
held about them.
National Operational Guidance (NOG) informs
ways of working for the fire and rescue services
nationally. We continued to support the joint
East Midlands team through 2019-20 with the
provision of both a Station Manager and a
Watch Manager working full time to design and
develop shared training packages for use across
the region.
The Grenfell tragedy continues to influence the
Service’s operational ways of working and
progress is monitored through the Service’s
Performance Board to ensure that
recommendations from Phase 1 of the public
inquiry are implemented in accordance with the
timescales that have been set.

Fire Investigation
In 2019-20 specialist fire investigators
investigated 87 serious fires across the county.
Our fire investigators work alongside the police
and forensic experts to collect and examine
evidence and determine the likely origin and
cause of the fire. We provide expert opinion to the
coroner, police and insurance companies, as well
as advising the property owners on future fire
safety measures.
Our team has strengthened ties with Nottingham
Trent University’s Forensic Science department in
the last year. The Crime Scene House at NTU’s
Clifton Campus will be utilised by NFRS during
the summer months, providing further forensic
awareness to staff.
As part of our continuing support of this
partnership we provide input on the Forensic
Science degree course syllabus.
We have also assisted the University to establish
a test burn facility, which is expected to be in use
towards the summer of 2020.

Page 44

High Quality Services

Looking After
Our People

Page 45

In 2019-20

People

We employed 821 people compared to 886
in 2018/19, made up of:
674 staff in operational roles compared to
742 in 2018/19.

One of our strategic objectives
is to maintain an engaged and
motivated workforce. Our
people are at the heart of what
we do, and ensuring their
engagement and motivation
strengthens the service that we
provide to you.
Communicating to our staff in
the most effective way possible
ensures that we are all working
as one team across NFRS. We
make sure that all of our people
are supported throughout their
career by providing appropriate
training and development,
providing accessible well-being
services and offering support for
our employees’ needs.

We are committed to providing
the highest standards of
workplace safety and support
for employees and place the
health, safety and well-being of
our workforce at the very top of
our agenda.

We promote opportunities to
enhance job satisfaction,
personal development, work-life
balance and a culture of
workplace inclusion which is
underpinned by our core values.

Page 46

147 staff in support roles compared to 144
in 2018/19.
We recruited:
8 wholetime firefighter apprentices
17 on-call firefighters
26 support staff
In 2019-20:
41 accidents were reported in the workplace,
compared with 52 in 2018-19, a reduction of
21%.
70 near misses were reported compared to
72 in 2018-19.
99.5% of operational staff passed the annual
fitness test, compared to 98.9 in 2018-19.
Figures take into account a reduction in wholetime posts
in September 2019 due to change in crewing models at 2
stations and relocation of Control to Derbyshire FRS

We recognise that we are not representative in
terms of the number of women, LGBT+ and Black
and Minority Ethnic employees we employ,
particularly in operational roles.
We are committed to addressing this, running a
campaign of positive action in support of our
recruitment of new firefighters. In 2019-20, of the
eight new wholetime firefighters who commenced
their training, two were from Black, Asian or
Minority ethnic backgrounds, and two were
female. We are building on our experiences of
the 2018 campaign, to put further positive action
plans in place for the upcoming recruitment.
We have continued to maintain a strong
commitment to inclusion and equality this year.
We continue to support LGBT+ service users and
staff. We were proud sponsors at both Worksop
and Nottingham Pride, and visibly supported
International Day against Homophobia, Biphobia
and Transphobia.
We continue to work with partners across
Nottinghamshire and the Fire sector. We were
part of a multi-agency partnership conference in
2019 on LGBT Mental Health and Wellbeing.
We were also part of a multi-agency disability
history conference on role models and leadership.
At this event members of Pulp Friction (the social
enterprise working with individuals with learning
disabilities) spoke about their experiences, and
the skills they have gained, working within our
service headquarters canteen.

We have delivered a range of training packages
to raise awareness of Equality, Diversity and
Inclusion (EDI) in the workforce during the year.
This training links to our core values and
promotes our expectations of the way that
employees conduct themselves, and engage
with the county’s diverse communities.

In 2019-20
242 e-learning packages were completed.
42 new starters took part in ‘An Introduction
to Equality’ training, as part of their initial
development.
154 staff attended the ‘Diversity in
Employment and working with vulnerable
people’ training course.
57 managers undertook ‘Diversity for
managers’ e-learning.
During 2019-20, as part of the implementation
of our performance management framework, we
have redeveloped our Professional
Development Review process and launched a
new Behavioural Framework. The new
approach puts emphasis on ensuring that every
member of staff has clear objectives,
understands what is expected of them and can
see clearly how their actions contribute to the
overall delivery of our Strategic Plan.

“We are an engaged and motivated workforce”
Page 47

In 2019, we developed our Wellbeing Strategy
with a focus on developing a culture of
sustainable wellbeing for everyone.
The strategy identifies four core aspects: mental
wellness, communication, fitness for role and
healthy lifestyle.
During 2019-20 there has been a major focus on
mental health and wellness, led by the
Occupational Health Team. We have:
• Hosted campaign days such as Time to Talk
and open drop-in sessions, including mental
health awareness on their Service-wide ‘tour’
• Delivered sessions on wellbeing, including
mental health and mindfulness at the 2019
spring conference
• Developed training packages for staff and
managers on topics including stress and
mental health awareness
We have refreshed and improved the availability
of information for staff, including the production of
an ‘enhance your wellbeing’ brochure which
details all of the support available.
The extension of the normal retirement age will
bring challenges aligned to longer working life.
We are increasing the support available to help
staff maintain good health and fitness throughout
their careers:
• Greater emphasis is being given to improving
strength and conditioning to reduce the risk of
musculoskeletal injuries.
• We provide bespoke advice for individuals and
teams and access to in-house physiotherapy.
• Our station Physical Training Instructors
maintain their competencies through regular eLearning updates in order to provide fitness
support to operational staff.
• All staff are encouraged to participate in a
range of fitness activities, which are delivered
by the Occupational Health Team, whether
remotely, from home or within the workplace.

Page 48

Engaged and Motivated Workforce

Delivering an
Efficient Service

Page 49

Governance
Nottinghamshire and City of
Nottingham Fire and Rescue
Authority, which is often referred to as
the Combined Fire Authority, is
responsible for ensuring the Service
has the people, equipment and
training needed to carry out our
duties in relation to fire prevention,
fire safety, firefighting and rescue,
road traffic collision extrication and
rescue and other emergency rescue
activities e.g. responding to flooding
or terrorism.
The full Fire Authority consists of 12
members, made up of elected
councillors from Nottingham City
Council and Nottinghamshire County
Council. There are six committees
which report to the Fire Authority.
These are:
•

Appointments

•

Community Safety

•

Finance and Resources

•

Human Resources

•

Personnel

•

Policy and Strategy

Internal governance
During 2019-20, we have made improvements to our internal
governance and assurance systems.
Strategic Leadership Team (SLT)
Under the direction of the Chief Fire Officer (CFO), the Strategic
Leadership Team is responsible for implementing the strategy and
policy decisions taken by the Fire Authority. The team meets weekly
to maintain collective understanding of priorities, discuss emerging
issues and determine if further formal reports and/or business cases
are required to be presented for consideration.
Programme and Performance Board
The Programme and Performance Board is a monthly meeting of
the SLT, chaired by the CFO, which focuses on the progress being
made against the strategic objectives set by the Fire Authority. It
scrutinises performance reports from all areas of the Service and
oversees significant corporate projects
Operational Learning Board
An Operational Learning Board has been created to ensure that the
Service can effectively learn from the operational incidents and
exercises which are attended. The Board also considers learning
that has come both locally and nationally from other fire and rescue
services to ensure and efficient and effective operational response.
Service Delivery Evaluation and Assurance Group

Collectively, these committees and
the Authority as a whole make
decisions on key matters such as
policy, strategy and budget.
Meetings of the Fire Authority and its
committees are open to the public.
Further information can be found on
the City Council’s website by clicking
here.

This new group meets quarterly to oversee the performance of our
prevention, protection and response teams. Risk and performance
highlights are identified, with the aim of addressing any areas of
concern and celebrating and learning from good performance.
Information Governance & Cyber Security
The Information Governance team supports Freedom of Information
and transparency of NFRS as a publicly funded service, whilst
ensuring that Data Protection responsibilities are maintained. NFRS
continues to train all employees in data protection responsibilities.
Cyber-attacks are a constant threat to organisations, and NFRS is
no different. In 2019 our ‘Cyber Essentials Plus’ certification was
revalidated. We continue to monitor and update our practices to
ensure that we are well placed to deal with current and future risks
appropriately. In 2019-20 we have thwarted 154,270 total threats,
including spam, malware and viruses.
Business Continuity Management
We updated our business continuity plans at corporate and
departmental levels, identifying the actions which would be needed
in the event of business disruption. This process was completed
early in 2020. In March, the COVID-19 pandemic provided a major
test for those plans, which proved to be robust enough to ensure
that we have been able to continue to deliver critical activities to our
communities in Nottinghamshire and support our partners in other
frontline services.

Page 50

Governance Statement

Financial Performance

The Annual Governance
Statement publicly explains how
the Service manages its
governance and internal control
measures. It is an open and
honest account of how the
Service ensures its financial
management system is adequate
and effective. It also ensures a
sound system of internal control,
assuring the utmost integrity in
all Service work.

Under the Local Government Act 1999, fire and rescue
authorities are responsible for ensuring that their business is
conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards,
and that public money is properly accounted for and used
economically, efficiently and effectively.

The Authority also has a Code of
Corporate Governance in which it
reaffirms its duties and
responsibilities.

The Service’s appointed external auditor is Ernst Young LLP.
The auditors are responsible for two key areas:

In this document, officers have
identified against each of the
code’s principles which source
documentation or existing
practice demonstrates how the
Authority complies with the
principles that make up the code.
It is important to be open about
the way pubic money is spent.
The Local Government
Transparency Code 2015 has
been used as the foundation for
organisational transparency. The
recommended datasets the
Service should make available as
a minimum, have been used as a
starting point for deciding what
information NFRS should make
available.

NFRS provides financial assurance through the publication of
an Annual Statement of Accounts. This is a statutory
requirement under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015,
and the accounts are prepared following the Code of Practice
on Local Authority Accounting. The financial statements are
subject to review by independent auditors as directed by the
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

1. Financial statements (including the Annual Governance
Statement): Providing an opinion on your accounts; and
2. Use of resources: Concluding on the arrangements in
place for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in
your use of resources (the value for money conclusion).
Internal Audit forms part of the wider system of internal
control which deals entirely with the Authority’s exposure to
financial, and to some extent non-financial risk.
The Service’s internal audit for 2019-20 was conducted by
Nottinghamshire County Council and reported to the Finance
and Resources Committee of the Authority, enabling
Members to see the work of internal audit and the
contribution that they make to the overall system of internal
control.
The 2019/20 budget was set at £42.696m. This was set
knowing that £1.24m would be required from reserves to
support the budget. The Service worked hard to make £600k
of savings during the year. Final expenditure was £42.096m,
requiring a total of £605k to be used from reserves. Capital
expenditure for the financial year was £1.843m, mostly on
operational personal protective equipment (£817k) and
finishing the new station at Hucknall (£403k).
The service held total reserves of £9.934m at 31 March
2020.
A balanced budget of £45.165m has been set for 2020/21,
meaning that the use of general fund reserves should not be
required.

Page 51

Page 52

Using our Resources
Effectively
It is important that we use our
resources as effectively as possible.
Collaboration has become a key
factor of improving effectiveness.
Sharing our resources with other
partner agencies within
Nottinghamshire and neighbouring
Fire and Rescue Services is
improving effectiveness and
efficiency and delivering financial
savings.
Maintaining our buildings and
vehicles is also essential in making
sure that they remain fit for purpose
and cost-effective.
We are continuing to rebuild our
estate delivering modern, energy
efficient buildings that provide
operational response bases and
community hubs.

Since it became a statutory duty we have been
proactive in seeking opportunities for collaboration
which can improve efficiency and operational
effectiveness.
In 2019-20 we have completed a variety of projects in
collaboration with other emergency services.
In addition to the projects referenced elsewhere within
this document such as Joint Headquarters, Hucknall Joint
Emergency Services Facility and the drone resource,
other significant examples include:
West Bridgford - building works have been completed
for the Fire Station to become a shared Fire and Police
Station. Alterations work was carried out to enable the
Police to move in and share the site in April.
Highfields Fire Station has been adapted to enable the
Police to use spare capacity for some of their training
teams. The Police driving school now operate from the
site and first aid training is also carried out at the station.
Hazardous Materials and Environmental Protection
Unit (HMEPU). As part of the continued drive towards
collaboration and value for money, Nottinghamshire Fire
and Rescue Service and Derbyshire Fire and Rescue
Service (DFRS) have agreed to share the HMEPU
appliance resource to deliver a hazardous materials
(HAZMAT) and environmental protection function at
incidents that require it.
Command Support Unit (CSU) - we have a need for two
CSUs due to our National Resilience commitments. In
order to share costs, we entered into an agreement with
DFRS where a second vehicle is shared.
Our dedicated CSU has received an upgrade this year
improving its capabilities.
Fuel Sharing - joint procurement and drawing of
bunkered fuel, has been expanded giving greater access
to Police officers around the county.
Building Improvements
Works have been carried out at Ashfield, Worksop and
Stockhill stations whilst improvements have also been
made to Mansfield’s Fire Service Museum.
Fleet Maintenance Contract
We have appointed a new high-performing contractor to
maintain our fleet of vehicles. This was a complex
procurement and is already delivering benefits in time,
professionalism, quality of work and cost.

Page 53

HMICFRS Action Plan

Service Assurance and
Future Improvement
In summer 2017, Her Majesty’s
Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC)
took on the inspections of England’s
fire and rescue services to become Her
Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary
and Fire & Rescue Services
(HMICFRS). Their primary role is to
report on how effective a fire service is,
how efficient they are, and how well
they look after their people.
In February 2019, the Service had its
first independent inspection for a
number of years and in June 2019 we
received our inspection report.
HMICFRS rated our; fire protection
work, and our national response as
‘Good’. Overall our Service was found
to ‘require improvement’ in the three
pillar assessment areas.
In the report HMICFRS identified 25
‘areas for improvement’ across the
organisation. We received our report
and created an improvement plan,
covering each of the 25 areas.
Progress against delivering the
required improvement is monitored
each month at the Programme and
Performance Board which is chaired by
the Chief Fire Officer. We also report
our progress quarterly to Fire Authority
Committees to allow for further
scrutiny.
Read our full HMICFRS inspection report.

At the time of publication, we have already completed
all of the actions in eight areas for improvement,
including: improvements to our operational training
programmes, changes in the way we capture and share
risk information, strategies for prevention and wellbeing,
development and testing business continuity plans.
Substantial progress has been made on twelve other
actions, which will be delivered by October. The
remaining actions will be completed by the end of 202021.
Coronavirus Pandemic
In response to the Coronavirus pandemic we have
adopted new ways of working to ensure that we are
able to:
• Maintain an appropriate operational response to
protect our communities.
• Continue to support high risk vulnerable persons with
targeted prevention and protection activities.
• Continue to deliver effective fire protection activities
in business premises, particularly as businesses
develop new working procedures to manage
coronavirus.
• Support our partners in the delivery of wider
community activities, where we have the necessary
skills and resources.
We are confident that we have the resilience to continue
to deliver our vision of creating safer communities.
Future Improvement
The Fire Authority has signed off our Year-2 Strategic
Action Plan. This includes the four continuing strategic
actions from Year-1.
• Joint Headquarters Collaboration Programme.
• Implementation of Emergency Services Network.
• Completion of the Performance Management
Framework.
• Aligning information management processes to
ISO27001.
It also includes a range of new actions around the
themes of: Responding to You, Preventing Incidents
and Protecting You, Delivering an Efficient Service and
Looking after Our People.
Fire Cover Review 2021

Page 54

In 2021, we will carry out a comprehensive risk analysis
of our county. This data will help us ensure that we are
allocating resources to the foreseeable risks within our
communities and feed into the development of the next
Strategic Plan.

The Fire Authority functions within
the clearly defined statutory and
policy framework. The key
documents setting this out are:
• The Fire and Rescue
Services Act 2004

Assurance
Declaration

• The Civil Contingencies Act
2004
• The Regulatory Reform (Fire
Safety) Order 2005
• The Fire and Rescue
Services (Emergencies)
(England) Order 2007
• The Localism Act 2011

Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Authority is
satisfied that it has met Government
expectations and responsibilities expected of
fire and rescue services with regard to the
National Framework. It is satisfied that it has
shown due regard for public money and that it
was properly accounted for and used efficiently
and effectively. It has adhered to the
commitments set out in the IRMP for the period
1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020.

• The Fire and Rescue National
Framework for England

Signature
Councillor Michael Payne
Chair of the Fire Authority

Page 55

Page 56

Agenda Item 7

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham
Fire and Rescue Authority

HER MAJESTY'S INSPECTORATE
OF CONSTABULARY AND FIRE &
RESCUE SERVICES UPDATE
Report of the Chief Fire Officer
Date:

11 September 2020

Purpose of Report:
To present Members with an update on the Service’s response to the outcomes of
the inspection by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue
Services, and to inform them of a further thematic inspection relating to Covid-19.
Recommendations:
It is recommended that Members:




Note the progress made against the AFI Improvement Plan.
Note the Covid-19 thematic inspection of the Service planned by the HMICFRS
Agree the closure of five further Areas for Improvement and the extension to 31
December 2020 for AFI 20.

CONTACT OFFICER

Name:

Candida Brudenell
Assistant Chief Fire Officer

Tel:

0115 967 0880

Email:

candida.brudenell@notts-fire.gov.uk

Media Enquiries
Contact:

Vicky Brown
0115 967 0880 vicky.brown@notts-fire.gov.uk

Page 57

1.

BACKGROUND

1.1

At the meeting of the Fire Authority in July 2019 Members were presented
with the report from Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire &
Rescue Services (HMICFRS) following the inspection of
Nottinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service (NFRS).

1.2

Furthermore, at the September 2019 Fire Authority meeting, Members were
presented with an action plan detailing the ‘areas for improvement’ (AFI), that
had been highlighted by HMICFRS, and capturing the actions to address
these areas.

1.3

It was agreed that scrutiny would be conducted through the Fire Authority
committee structure with regular progress reports being presented to
Members. Of the 25 AFIs, 12 were aligned to the Community Safety
Committee, eight were aligned to Human Rescores Committee, two were
aligned to Finance and Resources Committee, and three were aligned to the
Policy and Strategy Committee.

1.4

Due to the interim governance arrangements being in place because of
Covid-19, the reporting of updates to the various committees was suspended,
and this paper provides Members with an update across all 25 AFIs.

1.5

HMICFRS have also informed the Service of a further Covid-19 thematic
inspection that will commence on the 12 October 2020.

2.

REPORT

2.1

HMICFRS highlighted 25 AFIs for the Service to consider. Each improvement
area has been allocated to a lead officer, with clear milestones and expected
outcomes to deliver the improvement required.

2.2

Progress against each of the 25 AFIs is monitored each month at the
Programme and Performance Board. This is chaired by the Chief Fire Officer.

2.3

All AFIs are monitored, tracked and reviewed through an online ‘action
tracker’. This allows for ongoing updates and scrutiny.

2.4

Appendix A provides a summary of progress against each of the 25 AFIs to
date.

2.5

The timescales for delivering all of the AFIs has ranged from a few months, to
the last two actions being scheduled to be completed in April 2021.

2.6

A total of 8 AFIs have been closed to date, and a further 5 AFIs (AFI 5, 6, 19,
21 and 22) have now been completed and this report seeks approval for their
formal closure.

Page 58

2.7

AFI 20 was due to be completed by 30 September 2020. The mandatory
training matrix for non-operational and leadership development has been
completed and approved by Strategic Leadership Team on 28 July 2020.

2.8

This new matrix will now require rolling out into the Professional Development
Review process and will include changes to the associated software. It is
therefore proposed that this AFI will be fully completed by 31 December 2020
and this report seeks a formal three-month extension of the deadline to
enable this work to be concluded.

2.9

The Service has received notification from HMICFRS that it will be inspected
regarding the response to the Covid-19 pandemic by virtual means
commencing 12 October 2020.

3.1

HMICFRS has already requested various documents the Service has
produced in relation to the pandemic along with asking staff to undertake a
survey regarding the response.

3.2

HMICFRS has indicated that they are interested in how the Service
responded to the pandemic, the support offered to others and the wellbeing
of staff during this time. In addition, they are keen to understand the lessons
learned during the crisis and how this will shape the Service moving forward.

3.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no financial implications arising from this report.
4.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
IMPLICATIONS

There are no human resources or learning and development implications arising
from this report.
5.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken because the information
contained in this report does not relate to a change in policy or procedure.
6.

CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.

Page 59

7.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1

The Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 places a duty on NFRS in respect of
the delivery of its services to communities.

7.2

The Local Government Act 1999 places a statutory duty on NFRS to ‘secure
continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised’. The
reporting of Service Delivery’s performance ensures that the Service is
focusing on key objectives as set by the Fire and Rescue Authority and
continuous improvement. This ensures that Members can apply effective
scrutiny to be satisfied that statutory obligations are being met.

7.3

The Police and Crime Act (2017) Chapter 4 Section 11 outlines that the
English inspectors must inspect, and report on the efficiency and
effectiveness of, fire and rescue authorities in England.

8.

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

There are no risk management implications arising from this report.
9.

COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS

There are no collaboration implications arising from this report, however discussions
with Nottinghamshire Police continue in relation to their experience of HMICFRS
inspections and how NFRS can learn from that in preparation for future inspections.
10.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Members:
10.1

Note the progress made against the AFI Improvement Plan.

10.2

Note the Covid-19 thematic inspection of the Service planned by the
HMICFRS.

10.2

Agree the closure of five further Areas for Improvement and the extension to
31 December 2020 for AFI 20.

11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED
DOCUMENTS)

None.
John Buckley
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER

Page 60

APPENDIX A
HMICFRS AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT- JULY 2020 UPDATE
AFI
Reference

Reporting
Committee

Completion
Date

Comments

AFIs FOR APPROVAL
AFI 5

Community
Safety

31-Oct-20

Action completed
Closure Summary
The HMICFRS highlighted that the Service does not monitor its performance at preventing
fires and therefore doesn't know what impact it has on community safety. Since this
statement, the Service has made significant steps forward in the evaluation of activities, the
monitoring of these and the use of them to manage the work of the Service. The Service
now has frameworks in place for evaluation and assurance of Service Delivery activities, as
well as bespoke evaluation of specific Prevention activities and engagements with
communities. The Service can now use these to improve performance and ensure that
resources are targeted effectively; measuring the impact that activities have on promoting
community safety.

Page 61

AFI 6

Community
Safety

31-Jul-20

Action completed
Closure Summary
HMICFRS highlighted that NFRS should ensure it has clear systems in place to
performance manage fire safety audits and that there was no clear plan in place to manage
the workload of fire protection officers. It also highlighted that there is no quality assurance
process in place for audits being completed.

HMICFRS Improvement Plan

Page 62

Since this statement, the Service has taken significant steps forward in both the
management and clarity of workloads, and the assurance of the quality and consistency of
audits, and wider work. An assurance framework is now in place and being reported
against. Performance is managed through regular 1:1s, Team meetings and PDRs. Each
Fire Safety Inspector (FSI) has clarity over their requirements in relation to performance.
Whilst peer assurance visits by another FRS have not occurred due to the restrictions in
place around Covid19, these will occur as soon as practicable and will contribute to the
assurance reporting; external peer audits are captured in the assurance framework going
forward.

AFI 19

Human
Resources

31-Jul-20

Action completed
Closure Summary
The launch of the Behavioural Framework, publication of a revised Harassment Policy,
engagement with the BAME forum and approval of additional FT roles to promote inclusion
issues have supported the development of service values. The outcomes from the staff
survey which show that 96% of the workforce know and understand our values has given
particular reassurance against this strategic area.
Further quarterly thematic refreshing of values will become part of normal business, with
Q3 concentrating on We Value and Respect Others.

AFI 21

Community
Safety

30-Sep-20

Action complete
A review has been conducted and all subtasks identified during the February update are
completed. This will close this action


Implementation of periodic reporting to SLT (As per May Update)-

HMICFRS Improvement Plan



Routine monitoring of operational competency via OLB/Joint Training
meeting/Command Meeting. Governance structure and performance reporting in
place -



ICL level 2 acquisition and revalidation training recorded via ITrent -



ICL 2 command maintenance of competence assurance is undertaken on a
quarterly basis by the Head of Response - via reports from Group Managers -



Inclusion of Technical Rescue skills onto ITrent to ensure routine revalidation of
these skills in the same way that core competencies are maintained -



Assurance and reporting of officer maintenance of competence - Undertaken via
command groups, command meeting and validation by the Head of Response -

Identification of who owns and assures Maintenance of Competency training
records and implementation of a mechanism to ensure this happens –
Responsibility for Operational MOC passed to Risk, Assurance and Operational Training.
Moving of staff resources to be undertaken during September. Assurance of MOC training
undertaken by Local Line Management, with centralised oversight via dip sampling as part
of periodic performance reporting to SLT and as part of the Station Audit process

Page 63

AFI 22

Human
Resources

31-Mar-20

Action complete
Closure Summary
The signing of the Joint Statement and promotion of how and why positive action is being
undertaken as part of preparation for wholetime recruitment, alongside previous comms
and briefings to managers, meets the original AFA brief to improve communications around
positive action through all levels of the organisation. The FBU have been fully engaged as
part of this.

HMICFRS Improvement Plan

The message will continue to be reinforced when needed as part of our normal
communication processes.

AFI
Reference

Reporting
Committee

Completion
Date

Comments

Page 64

ONGOING AFIs
AFI 1

Policy and
Strategy

30-Sep-20

Action stated as 95% complete
Latest update on progress (July updates):
The last remaining action for this AFI was the plan-on-a-page for fire stations.
The KPMs for the plan-on-a-page has been agreed, the final format has been agreed, all
plans have been printed and they are now being send to all stations.
To help implement this concept, all Response managers will brief their stations/ crews.
There will also be a newsletter article to help its launch.
The additional action of the 'Golden Thread' e-learning is also progressing. A concept
package was created, and feedback has been received. final amendments are now being
made to the package.

AFI 2

Community
Safety

30-Sep-20

Action stated as 95% complete
Latest update on progress (July updates):
All SSRI data was transferred on to the MDT w/c 3rd August. All risk information was
available on the MDT, however it was not accessible from the map view and there was
duplication of old and new information.

HMICFRS Improvement Plan

SSRI's were searchable via premises number or name. This is now resolved and has been
assured by Station SSRI coordinators that new SSRI's are now all available. There are still
some duplicate records that require troubleshooting and faults are being reported via the
ICT Service Desk.
Assurance to be undertaken via Ops Learning Board from September 2020 to monitor
compliance with completion of SSRI's within required review dates.

AFI 8

Community
Safety

30-Sep-20

Action stated as 80% complete
Latest update on progress (July updates):
Service wide consultation regarding the new Incident Monitoring Procedure has now been
completed, requiring minor amendments from feedback only.
Minor amendments to the mobilising system (Joint Control) to be completed by the end of
August 2020.
Procedure to be published once amendments completed, expected publication to be in
early August.
The ongoing effectiveness of the procedure will be monitored by the OLB, which meets bimonthly. Data to support the monitoring of the procedure will also be published bi-monthly.

Page 65

AFI 17

Human
Resources

30-Sep-20

Action stated as 90% complete
Latest update on progress (July updates):
Following discussions at the last Programme Board, it was agreed that the supplementary
welfare review would be undertaken as a separate workstream and therefore the actions
taken by Delivery to monitor hours worked by those undertaken dual employment is in

HMICFRS Improvement Plan

place and operating successfully.
The feedback report in September will therefore close off this action.

AFI 20
Page 66

Human
Resources

30-Sep-20

Action stated as 80% complete

(proposed
extension to
31-Dec-20)

Latest update on progress (July updates):
The mandatory training matrix for non-operational and leadership development, has been
approved by SLT (Programme Board 28th July) and will be linked into iTrent role
development requirements to ensure that mandatory training requirements are clear within
the employee’s development record/plan. Individual or specialist training requirements will
be recorded as an outcome from individual PDR meetings.
The workforce plan identifies corporate training gaps, which will be progressed during
2020-22. Action to progress ICT skills across the service will be supported by the recently
appointed ICT Trainer role. The review of specialist officer skills is a work in progress.

It is expected that the iTrent work will be completed by the end of October, after which time
the training matrix will be communicated during October/November, with an 18-month
implementation timescale.
This will mean that the completion date will be end of 2020.

AFI 23

Human
Resources

30-Sep-20

Action stated as 90% complete
Latest update on progress (July updates):
As at 31 July, 39.6% (331) of PDRs had been undertaken and recorded on iTrent; 15.7%

HMICFRS Improvement Plan

(96) are part completed and 44.7% (373) have not yet been registered.
An email of completion rates by department has been circulated as a reminder of the target
of 90% of PDRs completed by 30th September (this allows for numbers of absentees and
new starters for which PDRs are not undertaken).
Specific reporting on how PDR performance targets link to strategic objectives will be
undertaken after 30th September as part of a review of the effectiveness of the revised
PDR scheme.

AFI 11

Community
Safety

31-Oct-20

Action stated as 33% complete
Latest update on progress (July updates):
The plan is to restart the exercise programme from September 2020.
As mitigation to the lack of physical exercises, the Service has held two 'virtual hybrid'
exercises and increased the numbers of table-top exercises that have been undertaken
With regards to OB exercising specifically. Meetings have taken place with the respective
AM's from LFRS and DFRS regarding OB exercising and their required and essential
support.

Page 67

AFI 4

Community
Safety

31-Oct-20

Action stated as 85% complete
Latest update on progress (July updates):
The Service continues to deliver the risk-based approach to engaging with the people who
are most at risk and has reviewed its risk assessments in line with Government, NHS and
NFCC guidelines.
This has seen the reintroduction of SWVs being undertaken by Response Crews and

HMICFRS Improvement Plan

outdoor community engagement activities being undertaken where appropriate.
Recruitment of additional personnel has been started to address the backlog of SWVs with
interviews to be conducted in early August.

Page 68

The SWV review is progressing and is addressing a number of key areas in relation to this
AFI. This has been delayed in progress due to Covid19 but is now progressing well.
The Service is now exploring opportunities to engage with independent validation of the
CHARLIE model and evaluating the social value of SWVs, ensuring that they are targeted
appropriately.
The Service has also appointed a new Occupational Therapist who will start with the
Persons at Risk team in September.
This role will continue to ensure that prevention work is targeted at those who are most at
risk and increase inter-organisational work with the NHS.

AFI 15

Finance and
Resources

31-Mar-21

Action stated as 54% complete
Latest update on progress (July updates):
The focus will be on the Vulnerable Persons element in the interim to gather the
requirements and process adjustments required to launch the module. This would also
require the Safe and Well review to be conducted as soon as possible by Prevention so
that they can be linked to ensure no discrepancies are made.
Once the processes are agreed the OLS web form for Prevention can be adjusted if
required to capture new information whilst meeting the accessibility requirements of NFRS.
Protection OLS could be done sooner once the requirements are gathered if this is before
Vulnerable Persons is concluded however due to the look and feel of the webpage it may

HMICFRS Improvement Plan

not be a benefit to make the change earlier.
Timeframes for completion would be towards the end of this year including creating training
etc as an estimate.
Quick screens will then be looked at later rather than in the interim.

AFI 9

Community
Safety

31-Mar-21

Action stated as 67% complete
Latest update on progress (July updates):
The Surface Go LTE Proof of Concept Project Board met on Thursday 9 July 2020 to
review an exception report and exception plan submitted by the project manager.
They agreed to put the Proof of Concept on hold until such times as Safe & Well Visits,
Short Audits, SSRI's, Business Safety Checks etc are being routinely scheduled and
conducted.
Adopting this Option will lengthen the end date of the Proof of Concept; however, it will not
increase costs as hardware, software, licences and data sims have already been
purchased for the phase.

AFI 13
Page 69

Policy and
Strategy

30-Apr-21

Action stated as 40% complete
Latest update on progress (July updates):
Power Bi Team currently working on the `Response ` dashboard.
The complement of the WDS confidence history data has been pulled into Power BI and
will be incorporated into both the SLT and Response Dashboards.
There is currently an issue with missing data in the system for this report. The Team are
manually populating the gaps of missing WDS availability info using Systel watch rota data

HMICFRS Improvement Plan

AFI 25

Human
Resources

30-Apr-21

Action stated as 50% complete
Latest update on progress (July updates):

Page 70

The details of an Aspiring Middle Manager Programme have been circulated for
comments. The intention is to promote the opportunity after the SM process in October, to
commence in the new year.
A development opportunity at WM level in HR is currently being recruited as a 12-month
secondment, and it is hoped to identify 2 other roles within other corporate depts as
additional development roles for either operational or support staff at WM (equivalent) level.
Discussion with DFRS on potential for shared leadership events is ongoing.

AFI
Reference

Reporting
Committee

Completion
Date

Comments

AFIs COMPLETED
AFI 7

Community
Safety

29-Feb-20

Action completed

AFI 12

Community
Safety

31-Mar-20

Action completed
Statement provided by GM Corporate 4th April 2020
HMICFRS identified "Staff at Crew and Watch Manager level haven't received training in
this area (JESIP) for some time.
As of 31st March 2020, an audit of training records shows that all operational staff (baring

HMICFRS Improvement Plan

those on long term sick, maternity leave etc.) have completed the directed JESIP elearning packages.
A review of other actions required to close this action confirms: JESIP is embedded within
L1 command training courses, and is to be added to revalidation courses from 1 April 2020.
The Service exercise programme for 2020/21 has stated JESIP objectives for certain
exercises.

AFI 10

Community
Safety

31-Mar-20

Action completed
Closure statement provided by Head of Risk and Assurance 5th May 2020
HMICFRS identified that risk information is shared via MDT in the tri-service between
Nottinghamshire, Leicestershire and Derbyshire, however information from South Yorkshire
and Lincolnshire cannot be accessed.
Cross border risk information is now available as follows:

Page 71






AFI 16

Finance and
Resources

31-Mar-20

Derbyshire - all risk information
Leicestershire - all risk information
Lincolnshire - Level 3 premises within 5km of the border
South Yorkshire - Level 3 premises within 5km of the border

Action completed
Closure statement provided by Head of Finance 6 March 2020
The Medium Term Financial Strategy, Reserve Strategy and Capital Strategy were all
approved by Fire Authority on 20 December 2019.

HMICFRS Improvement Plan

At its meeting on 28 February, Fire Authority approved a 1.95% increase in Council Tax
when enabled a balanced budget to be set for 2020/21. Furthermore, it is anticipated that
the Authority will be able to set balanced budgets in the years 2021/22 to 2023/24

AFI 3
Page 72

Community
Safety

30-Apr-20

Action completed
Closure Statement provided by Head of Prevention and Protection 30th March 2020
The inspection highlighted how the Service did not have a published, or adopted,
Prevention Strategy and staff highlighted how the Service does not use a strategy.
Hard copies of the strategy have now been published and distributed to all Teams.
The Strategy is referenced in team meetings and has been central to the focussing of the
2020/21 business plan and also enacting core business during BCM arrangements that we
are currently in.
The three milestones detailed within the February 2020 update have been met.
Continuing assurance will be achieved through the review of 1:1s. Team meetings and
PDRs to ensure that they reference the strategy. Conversations with Teams will assess
how well embedded the strategy now is, going forward.

AFI 24

Human
Resources

31-May-20

Action completed
Action 1: the Progression Procedure has been revised and published and provides
additional information about the way that the selection process works to ensure clarity
around the process.
Action 2: Candidate briefings will be undertaken prior to promotion processes. These were
undertaken for the recent Station Manager process and are scheduled for the Crew and
Watch Manager process which will take place in May 2020. This allows prospective

HMICFRS Improvement Plan

candidates to seek clarity and ask questions about the process.
Action 3: Candidate packs will contain full information about the process and will be issued
at the time that the selection process is advertised.
Feedback survey`s has been issued to those who took part in the CM and WM process and
this will inform a review which will feed into the next process.

AFI 14

Policy and
Strategy

30-Jun-20

Action completed
Closure statement provided by Head of Risk and Assurance 8th June.
HMICFRS identified that the Service has business continuity plans in place for Control and
ICT functions and that requirements for testing have been identified. For fire control there
are records of continuity testing. There was no programme in place to test plans of every
department or station.
The rationale for the closure is as follows:
 All plans have been reviewed and tested through Covid.
 Testing at station level suspended due to Covid.
 On going monitoring of BCM performance is through Ops Learning Board and KPIs.
 Further reassurance on testing and exercising will be sought on return to BAU post
covid.

Page 73

AFI 18

Human
Resources

31-Dec-20

Action completed
Closure Statement provided by Head of people and Organisational development 22 nd April
2020
The HMI report found that the service doesn't have a health and wellbeing strategy. It also

HMICFRS Improvement Plan

doesn't consistently evaluate the effectiveness of its wellbeing measures
The Well Being Strategy has been approved by CFA and published on MyNet.
The second wellbeing report has been considered by HWSC and is an established agenda
item.
Page 74

Assurance will now take place to ensure that the strategy is established and effective.

HMICFRS Improvement Plan

Agenda Item 8

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham
Fire and Rescue Authority

COMMITTEE OUTCOMES
Report of the Chief Fire Officer

Date:

11 September 2020

Purpose of Report:
To report to Members the business and actions of the Fire Authority committee
meetings which took place in May and July 2020.
Recommendations:
That Members note the contents of this report.

CONTACT OFFICER
Name :

John Buckley
Chief Fire Officer

Tel :

0115 967 0880

Email :

john.buckley@notts-fire.gov.uk

Media Enquiries
Contact :

Vicky Brown
(0115) 967 0880 vicky.brown@notts-fire.gov.uk

Page 75

1.

BACKGROUND

As part of the revised governance arrangements the Authority has delegated key
responsibilities to specific committees of the Authority. As part of those delegated
responsibilities, the chairs of committees and the management leads report to the
Authority on the business and actions as agreed at Fire and Rescue Authority
meeting on 1 June 2007.
2.

REPORT

The minutes of the following meetings are attached at Appendix A for the
information of all Fire Authority Members:
Policy and Strategy Committee
Policy and Strategy Committee
3.

01 May 2020
24 July 2020

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

All financial implications were considered as part of the original reports submitted to
the committees.
4.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
IMPLICATIONS

All human resources and learning and development implications were considered as
part of the original reports submitted to the committees.
5.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS

An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken because this report is not
associated with a policy, function or service. Its purpose is to update the Fire
Authority on the outcomes of committee business.
6.

CRIME AND DISORDER IMPLICATIONS

There are no crime and disorder implications arising from this report.
7.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no legal implications arising directly from this report.

Page 76

8.

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

The Service’s performance in relation to matters addressed through the committee
structure is scrutinised through a range of audit processes. The Service needs to
continue to perform well in these areas as external scrutiny through Comprehensive
Performance Assessment and auditors’ judgement is key to future Service delivery.
9.

COLLABORATION IMPLICATIONS

There are no collaboration implications arising from this report, as the report seeks
to provide Members with an update on the business and actions of Fire Authority
committee meetings which have taken place in the last quarter.
10.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That Members note the contents of this report.
11.

BACKGROUND PAPERS FOR INSPECTION (OTHER THAN PUBLISHED
DOCUMENTS)

None.

John Buckley
CHIEF FIRE OFFICER

Page 77

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority
Policy and Strategy Committee
Minutes of the meeting held remotely and streamed on 1 May 2020 from 10.05 am 11.50 am
Membership
Present
Councillor Michael Payne (Chair)
Councillor Andrew Brown
Councillor Jonathan Wheeler
Councillor Sybil Fielding
Councillor John Clarke (minutes 23-30 inclusive)
Councillor Toby Neal

Absent

Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:
John Buckley
- Chief Fire Officer
Craig Parkin
- Deputy Chief Fire Officer
Ian Pritchard
- Assistant Chief Fire Officer
Malcolm Townroe
- Clerk and Monitoring Officer to the Authority
Charlotte Radford
- Treasurer to the Authority
Becky Smeathers
- Head of Finance
Gavin Harris
- Head of Digital Transformation
Tracy Crump
- Head of People and organisational Development
Terry Scott
- Estates Manager
Bryn Coleman
- Area Manager
Catherine Ziane-Pryor
- Governance Officer

19

Apologies for Absence

None.
19

Apologies for Absence

None.
20

Minutes

The minutes of the meeting held on 31 January 2020 were confirmed as a true record.
Page 78

1

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Policy and Strategy - 1.05.20

21

Declarations of Interests

None.
22

Chair's Announcements

Although not listed on the agenda, the Chair was of the opinion that the item could be
considered as a matter of urgency in accordance with Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local
Government Act 1972, because of the developing circumstances around Covid-19, a brief
general introduction update was appropriate.
With the ongoing social distancing requirements, it is necessary to establish interim
arrangements for Fire and Rescue Authority meetings and governance. With cross-party
agreement, the Authority AGM will be delayed, in line with Central Government
arrangements.
This Policy and Strategy Committee virtual meeting is a trial of virtual arrangements, and if
successful, further virtual meetings may be held.
Thanks are extended to all Fire and Rescue Service staff for stepping up in support of
communities, providing a range of assistance including voluntarily roles supporting increased
mortuary capacity, supporting food banks, deliveries of medications and preparedness in
assisting the East Midlands Ambulance Service (EMAS) with moving patients between
hospitals. Thanks are given to all staff across the Service on behalf of members of the whole
Authority, including back office staff who have changed their working practices and enabled
continued functioning, including the IT Team who have worked hard to support home
working, and those potentially putting themselves at further risk to support communities on
the front line.
Thanks also to the Trades Unions which have worked alongside staff.
Particular tribute is paid to John Buckley as the Chief Fire Officer, whose national level role
as Finance Lead on the National Fire Chief’s Council is paying dividends for the Service and
the whole sector from the good relationships built throughout the sector and in Central
Government, which have provided a significant uplift for this Service and the whole sector.
The Chair has been working with the LGA’s National Joint Council for Local Authority Fire
and Rescue Services.
Good cross-party collaboration is providing confidence in the work of the Authority. Particular thanks
are extended to Councillor Andrew Brown as Leader of the Opposition on the Authority, and
Councillor Jonathan Wheeler.

23

Financial Impact of the Covid-19 Outbreak

John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, introduced the item and highlighted that circumstances have
changed since the publication of the agenda, and a substantive change is to be made to the
recommendation.
Becky Smeathers, Head of Finance, presented the report and highlighted the following
points:

2

Page 79

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Policy and Strategy - 1.05.20

a)

Since the budget was set in February 2020, global financial circumstances have
changed significantly due to the impact of Covoid-19 and there is now significant
pressure on the Fire and Rescue Service Budget. Appropriate amendments to the
budget have been identified and approval is sought for a temporary increase in
borrowing limits if required. Any additional borrowing will be applied short-term follow
the established approval process;

b)

Whilst initially a Central Government grant to the Service of £191k was received in
March to assist with the cost of additional Covid-19 response work, a further £867k has
now been received, giving a total of £1,058k. As such, it is not anticipated that the
Service will need to draw on general reserves, so the fourth recommendation is now
withdrawn, but the ongoing financial position will continue to be closely monitored;

c)

Budgets continued to be monitored and the Service is currently spending less on
training although alternative online training will need to be established to ensure that
training standards are maintained. ‘Safe and well’ visits have been temporarily halted;

d)

It is anticipated that council tax and business rates collection will be substantially
impacted. The budget contains a surplus in the collection fund of £94k. This is now not
expected to materialise, with significance financial strains on many business and
citizens. The ongoing effects will not be apparent for some time, but updates will be
provided to members of the Finance and Resources Committee and to the Policy and
Strategy Committee in July if required;

e)

With regard to next year’s budget, national circumstances will be monitored carefully
and considered prior to any proposals;

f)

The new firefighting personal protective equipment (PPE) has now been delivered to
stations and authorisation is sought to write off the value of the old withdrawn PPE,
which will be temporarily retained as backup;

g)

The interim external audit of accounts will be completed remotely. Whilst the final
submission deadline has been extended to the end of November, the Service must
have the accounts available on its website by the end of August. The external auditors,
Ernst and Young, are reviewing timetables as their NHS audit of accounts has been
understandably postponed, the Fire Service’s audit will be prioritised.

In response to members’ questions, it is noted that the Service replaces all PPE at the same
time to ensure that all firefighters have the same level and standard of equipment. PPE
generally has a life expectancy of 10 years, after which time it is not considered suitable for
protective use and does not have any second-hand monetary value, although it may be gifted
to charities for display.
Members of the Committee thanked Becky Smeathers and the Finance Team for their
prompt response in extreme circumstances, and welcomed the level of the Central
Government grant, which may be a reflection of the Chief Fire Officer’s work to raise the
profile of this Service and the sector as a whole.
Resolved to
1)

increase the operational boundary from £31,850m to £33,850m;

2)

increase the authorised limit from £35,035m to £37,035m;
3
Page 80

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Policy and Strategy - 1.05.20

3)

increase the 12 month loan maturity profile limit from 20% to 30%;

4)

write-off £95k second hand PPE out of the stock account.

24

Authority Governance

Malcolm Townroe, Clerk to the Authority, presented the report which updates members on
the legislative changes affecting governance brought in by the Coronavirus Act 2020, and
requests that the Authority adopts the proposed temporary changes to governance and
meeting arrangements. If approved, the arrangements can be reviewed at the Policy and
Strategy Committee at its next scheduled meeting on 10 July 2020.
The emphasis remains on ensuring that business is continued to be undertaken in a
transparent manner with the use of virtual meetings which are publicly accessible via
YouTube.
Confirmation will be sought from both City and County Councils that it is their intention for
appointments to the Fire Authority to continue until a time when respective Annual General
Meetings (AGMs) can be held.
Resolved to:
1)

note the legislative changes brought in by s78 of the Coronavirus Act 2020 and
the regulations issued under that section;

2)

agree that, as permitted by the Coronavirus Act 2020 and the regulations issued
thereunder, all continuing meetings of the Authority will be held by way of
online meeting;

3)

authorise the Clerk to the Authority to take all and any such steps as may be
reasonable and necessary to ensure that online meetings can be delivered in
accordance with the legislative requirements and in a secure and safe manner;

4)

agree to cancel the Annual General Meeting of the Authority due to be held on
12 June 2020;

5)

agree to cancel all future meetings of the Authority, other than meetings of the
Policy and Strategy Committee, due to be held before 10 July 2020;

6)

agree to receive a further report regarding future meetings and meeting
arrangements at this Committee on 10 July 2020.

25

Service Response to the Covid-19 Outbreak

Prior to the Committee’s consideration of this item, the following written question has been
submitted by the Fire Brigades Union (FBU) and was read to members by Malcolm Townroe,
Clerk to the Authority:
The FBU would like to thank all members and all departments for their part in providing
a swift response to Covid-19. We understand the difficulty that working remotely can
bring however as a service we have adapted to the circumstances and overcome the
obstacles and challenges that we have all faced. With this in mind the FBU request
4
Page 81

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Policy and Strategy - 1.05.20

that all additional work is in line with the current triparty agreement, and the extra work
will cease when the triparty agreement ends.
The following response was provided by the Chair:
Thank you for recognising the positive work being done by all within the Service and to
all representative bodies for their engagement. These are unprecedented times where
our communities look to us for leadership, support and compassion. I am immensely
proud of how we have risen to that challenge which is echoed by all members of this
Authority and by many from within our communities.
You will be aware that staff from all areas of the Service are undertaking this
invaluable work on a voluntary basis, and that the tripartite agreement is only
applicable to FBU members. The Service will want to remain engaged in this work
whilst ever the community needs us, and where we can provide vital support to ease
the hardship and suffering being felt by many citizens. I hope that the FBU will fully
support us in those endeavours, providing assistance to people when they need us the
most, as they have been for the past few weeks.
John Buckley, Chief Fire Officer, presented the report and highlighted the following points:
a)

The Service has temporarily been unable to operate within the formal governance
structure while being unable to hold meetings, but members have been kept fully
informed and consulted where appropriate. Their support has been much appreciated;

b)

The Local Resilience Forum (LRF) has been aware of the potential for a pandemic for
some time and all Emergency Services reviewed their arrangements once the crisis in
China became apparent;

c)

The Service’s investment in ICT has proved invaluable for enabling remote working;

d)

All staff have been confirmed as key workers and have been able to access key
worker child care and now virus testing. Staff who are shielding are being supported;

e)

Initially there was a Service absence rate of 9%, which has now dropped (across the
sector) to about 3%, possibly due to the discipline of staff and an understanding of
contamination;

f)

Service delivery has been maintained and excellent availability of on-call assets of
nearly 100% 24/7 achieved. There has been a low level increase of garden and
rubbish fires, which have not caused any strain to the Service. On-call staff are
thanked for their availability and responsiveness;

g)

The Service’s work continues with the National Joint Council (NJC) and the triparty
agreement, whereby firefighters support partners including the East Midlands
Ambulance Service (EMAS), Coroners and support for vulnerable citizens. Additional,
broader support has been made available for other partners, including risk
assessments and Craig Parkin, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, has been providing support
at a local, regional and national level;

h)

Initially there was a delay in staff volunteering for additional community support
responsibilities, but then there was an overwhelming response offering a range of
Page 82

5

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Policy and Strategy - 1.05.20

support, including for food banks, supporting delivery of food and community supplies.
Thanks to the staff who have been involved and showed willing;
i)

All of the usual visits to business premises and citizens’ homes have been stopped
with the exception of those at high risk. Consideration is taking place as to how this,
and general preventative work, can start again but with appropriate protection
measures in place. Statutory consultation and work streams have continued;

j)

The Service holds its own stocks of PPE and maintains a high level of resilience;

k)

Resources have been flexed to provide inspection support to the City Council to
progress protection work. It is acknowledged that during this period, there will be other
areas of work which have slowed or halted and a catch-up period will be required once
the pandemic is over. Online training is being provided where possible;

l)

The worst scenario for EMAS has not materialised but staff are trained and available
and prepared for the potential for further infection spikes. Although not yet deployed,
16 staff are trained to support the LRF with mortuary transfer and management if
required, and face-fit testing for PPE is also being explored in the north of the county;

m)

All local Government Chief Executives across the county regularly meet virtually with
lead emergency service partner organisations to share information, seek and provide
support and ensure consistent messages;

n)

Regional Chief Fire Officers meet virtually weekly with the Chief Executive of EMAS;

o)

National Chief Fire Officers Council hold a weekly gold meeting, often including
ministers and civil servants which feeds into Central Government’s ‘gold lead’. The
Service maintains a high profile with Chief Officers actively providing support
regionally and nationally;

p)

Communication and engagement with staff is regular, consistent and maintains social
connections, including Occupational Health support for the mental strain of isolation;

q)

Recovery and returning to business as usual is the next stage of planning and
includes recruitment which is likely to be more protracted than usual, although some
staff who had submitted resignations have withdrawn them so they can continue to
support the Service and their communities through this period, for which thanks are
given. Staffing strain is likely to become apparent towards the end of the year so in
preparation, it is requested that re-engagement of a small number of former firefighters
is considered;

r)

Social distancing is likely to be required for some time yet and must be planned for all
activity.

Members’ comments included:
s)

Thanks to the Chief Fire Officer and all of his team for the work being done. There
needs to be some consideration of how Authority members’ appreciation to staff can
be shown;

6

Page 83

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Policy and Strategy - 1.05.20

t)

Thanks to staff who are responding to community need, such as the Fire Officers who,
due to issues in a small area of the city, are delivering controlled medicines. The
Service as a whole has been very responsive and it’s very much appreciated;

u)

The support of Fire Officers at community hubs, ensuring they can continue to operate
to support the most vulnerable citizens, is very much appreciated.

Resolved to:
1)

endorse the approach taken by the Chief Fire Officer in responding to the Covid19 outbreak;

2)

formerly thank the Chief Fire Officer and all members of the Fire Service for their
efforts during the Covid-19 outbreak;

3)

approve the short-term re-engagement of operational staff to be utilised as part
of a blended approach to maintaining critical staffing levels.

26

Establishment of a Fire Engineer Post

Prior to consideration of the item, Malcolm Townroe, Clerk to the Authority, read the following
question from the Fire Brigades Union (FBU):
The FBU requests that the Authority makes the fire engineer post an equivalent Grey
Book role in line with current ranks and relevant qualifications. If a Grey Book
employee is successful at applying for the post then the FBU request that this would
be offered as a Grey Book role.
The Chair responded as follows:
For clarity, the role was previously undertaken by a Group Manager who by
coincidence held the qualification, and as that individual retired, the Group Manager
post has been filled to maintain the role within the establishment. The proposal being
considered today is to increase the numbers in the establishment in direct response to
the need to develop and expand the professional knowledge, expertise and capacity of
the Service. The Chief Fire Officer does not believe that any further operational
expertise is required in the Fire Protection Department, and he also recognises that
Grey Book roles are compromised by the need to maintain operational competence,
generally have higher turnover in such posts, and have higher costs associated with
them.
Furthermore, the post will also provide greater career progression for current Fire
Protection professionals, and demonstrates the Authority’s desire to offer opportunities
to all.
The post will be open to anyone with skills, knowledge and expertise. The most
suitable candidate will be offered the role regardless of their current conditions of
service, on the basis of it being a Green Book role going forward.
Craig Parkin, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, presented the report which seeks approval to
establish a fire engineer post.

Following the Hackitt Enquiry into the Grenfell Tower fire, there is a greater focus on fire
prevention and safety. The establishment of this post will provide greater flexibility to meet
7
Page 84

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Policy and Strategy - 1.05.20

the requirements of the competency framework for fire regulators, as specified by National
Fire Chiefs Council.
Operational staff are being trained to undertake low level assessments, which will release
capacity for higher level assessments to be undertaken by the Fire Engineer who will identify
risk and respond accordingly.
Resolved to approve an increase to the permanent establishment with the creation of
and recruitment to a Fire Engineer role.
27

Exclusion of the Public

RESOLVED to exclude the public from the meeting during consideration of the
remaining items in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972
on the basis that, having regard to all the circumstances, the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.
28

Update on the Proposed New Worksop Fire Station Project

Ian Pritchard, Assistant Chief Officer, presented the report which updates members on the
proposed new Worksop Fire Station Project.
Resolved to approve the recommendations as set out in the report.
29

Restructure of the Procurement and Resources Department

Ian Pritchard, Assistant Chief Officer, presented the report which sets out the proposed
restructure of the Procurement and Recourses Department, as part of the ongoing review
cycle.
Resolved to approve the recommendations as set out in the report.
30

Corporate Support Restructure

Ian Pritchard, Assistant Chief Officer, presented the report which sets out the proposed
restructure of the Corporate Support Department, to meet organisational requirements and
priorities and deliver Service objectives in 2020-22.
Resolved to approve the recommendations as set out in the report.

8

Page 85

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Policy and
Strategy
Minutes of the meeting held remotely on Zoom and livestreamed on
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCt4VuYp8JJJvXCLRmSRJ1mw/featured
on 24 July 2020 from 10.00 am - 12.30 pm
Membership
Present
Councillor Andrew Brown
Councillor Michael Payne (Chair)
Councillor Jonathan Wheeler
Councillor Sybil Fielding
Councillor John Clarke
Councillor Toby Neal

Absent

Colleagues, partners and others in attendance:
Candida Brudenell
John Buckley
Gavin Harris
Craig Parkin
Ian Pritchard
Terry Scott
Becky Smeathers
Malcolm Townroe
Jane Garrard
31

-

Assistant Chief Fire Officer
Chief Fire Officer
Head of Digital Transformation
Deputy Chief Fire Officer
Assistant Chief Fire Officer
Estates Manager
Head of Finance
Clerk to the Authority
Senior Governance Officer, Nottingham City Council

Apologies for Absence

None
32

Declarations of Interests

None
33

Minutes

Page 86

1

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Policy and Strategy - 24.07.20

Prior to the Committee’s consideration of this item, the following question had been submitted
by the Fire Brigade’s Union (FBU) and was read to members by Malcolm Townroe, Clerk to
the Authority:
Item 29. Restructure of Procurement and Resources Department
The FBU believe that decisions that affect our members and this case potential
redundancies, should be made in a public forum. This agenda item was excluded to the
public and FBU. The Fire Authority must be open to public scrutiny and challenge when
making decisions of this nature. Will the Fire Authority make this report public and commit to
making all future decisions of this nature open to public scrutiny?
The following response was provided by the Chair:
Thank you for the question. The Authority fully appreciates the value and necessity of
transparency, however, due to the very small scale of changes being proposed within the
report it would be possible to individually identify members of staff, and therefore the decision
to exclude the public was appropriate under the relevant areas of legislation.
Notwithstanding this position, the affected employees and their nominated representatives
were made aware of the contents of the report, and formal consultation will be undertaken in
line with Service policy. I would also point out that the Service has an excellent track record
in mitigating potential redundancies where possible, and I am assured by the Chief Fire
Officer that all reasonable steps will be taken in these circumstances.
The minutes of the meeting held on 1 May 2020 were confirmed as an accurate record.
34

Membership

The Committee noted that Councillor Stephen Garner had replaced Councillor Stuart Wallace
as a member of the Fire and Rescue Authority as of 11 June 2020.
35

Chair's Announcements

The Chair welcomed the opportunity to, on behalf of the Authority, sign the joint commitment
to improve workforce diversity in conjunction with the Chief Fire Officer and all representative
bodies. This was another step forward in making sure that the Service is relevant to, and
reflective of the communities it serves. However, there is no complacency and the Chair is
keen for the Service to go further where it can.
The Government has launched a consultation of fire safety and the Chief Fire Officer will be
responding to ensure the observations of this Service are put forward. The Bill essentially
takes forward Dame Judith Hackitt’s review of building regulations and fire safety, and a draft
has been published to allow for consultation before formal Parliamentary scrutiny.
Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services has indicated that
it is seeking approval from the Home Secretary to undertake a thematic inspection of all Fire
and Rescue Services specifically relating to the response to the Coronavirus pandemic. If
approved, formal details will be communicated to the Service and members will be informed.
Along with the Deputy Chief Fire Officer, the Chair attended meetings hosted by the National
Employers as part of national joint council to seek opinion on the pay rise for firefighters. We
recognise that the pay for firefighters needs to be properly addressed, but any increases

2

Page 87

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Policy and Strategy - 24.07.20

above the 2% we have budgeted for would need to be supported by Government or it would
have a direct impact on our ability to deliver services. Therefore we urge the Government to
give serious consideration to funding above the 2%.
The Minister for Fire has announced a review of the Police and Crime Commissioner model
this week with an element of focus on fire reform. The Chief Fire Officer will bring forward
further information when it is available.
Subject to approval at this meeting, there will be a virtual members’ seminar held at the rising
of the Fire Authority meeting in September. A formal agenda and further information will be
sent out to members nearer the time.
The Memorial Garden at Sherwood Lodge, supported by both Services and their workforce
representative bodies, will be formally opened in the very near future. Members will be
invited to attend and appropriate measures will be in place to ensure that those wishing to
share the celebrations will be able to attend safely.
This is the last Fire Authority meeting that Ian Pritchard will attend before retiring in August.
He has worked for the Service since 2009 in a variety of roles, bringing valuable experience
from the private sector. Thank you to Ian for his public service.
36

Authority Governance

Malcolm Townroe, Clerk to the Authority, presented the report updating members on the
temporary changes to Authority governance and meeting arrangements following the
previous meeting of Policy and Strategy Committee on 1 May 2020. He highlighted the
following information:
(a) The virtual meeting of Policy and Strategy Committee on 1 May 2020 was held
successfully and there have been over 270 views of the meeting on YouTube.
(b) The proposed governance arrangements set out a plan for ensuring transparent
governance in line with the required legislation, in the context of the current coronavirus
pandemic.
(c) While the proposed Fire Authority meeting in September will take place on Zoom,
arrangements for later meetings will be agreed nearer the time depending on the
circumstances and may be held in person if appropriate.
(d) At the rising of the proposed Fire Authority meeting in September there will be a
members’ seminar.
(e) It is proposed to have a meeting of Fire Authority in November to consider the audited
accounts.
(f) The meeting of Policy and Strategy Committee provisionally scheduled for November will
only be held if necessary.
(g) It is intended to resume the full schedule of Fire Authority meetings from January 2021.

Page 88

3

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Policy and Strategy - 24.07.20

During the subsequent discussion the need to consider whether vulnerable members could
be expected to attend physical meetings and therefore the possibility of holding hybrid
meetings rather than fully face-to-face meetings was raised. The Clerk informed members
that while there was provision to hold hybrid meetings it was technically more difficult and
there was a preference for either fully virtual or fully face-to-face meetings. However, all
options would be considered.
Resolved to:
1) agree to hold a virtual Zoom meeting of the full Authority on Friday 11 September
2020 to include only essential reports;
2) note that at the rising of the full Authority meeting on 11 September 2020 there will
be a virtual members’ briefing session to enable an informal information exchange
between all members of the Authority and the Chief Fire Officer and his team;
3) agree to hold a further meeting of the full Authority (either by Zoom or in person,
depending on the prevailing circumstances) on Friday 27 November 2020, in
substitution for the meeting usually scheduled for December, to enable the
Authority to formally sign off the audited accounts;
4) agree that, subject to the coronavirus remaining under appropriate control, all
meetings of the Authority and its committees recommence with effect from
January 2021 (either by Zoom or in person, depending on the prevailing
circumstances) and meetings be held on the following days:

Full Fire Authority
 11 September 2020 (virtual meeting via Zoom)
 27 November 2020 (virtual or physical dependent on circumstances)
 26 February 2021
 28 May 2021 (AGM)
Community Safety Committee
 8 January 2021
 19 March 2021
Finance and Resources Committee
 15 January 2021
 26 March 2021
Human Resources Committee
 22 January 2021
 23 April 2021
Policy and Strategy Committee
 13 November 2020 (virtual and only if required for urgent business)
 29 January 2021
 30 April 2021
5) arrange a meeting of the Strategic Inclusion Board (either by Zoom or in person
depending on the prevailing circumstances) when considered appropriate by the
Chief Fire Officer, following consultation with the Chair of the Authority.

4

Page 89

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Policy and Strategy - 24.07.20

37

2019/20 Revenue and Capital Outturn

Prior to the Committee’s consideration of this item, the following written question had been
submitted by the Fire Brigades Union (FBU) and was read to members by Malcolm Townroe,
Clerk to the Authority:
The Service has underspent on wholetime wages and overtime by a considerable amount.
However, the wholetime ridership continues to suffer due to large numbers of vacant posts.
Many appliances continue to ride at minimum crewing levels due to budget restraints. Will
the Fire Authority commit to spending all the wholetime budget and earmark enough overtime
budget to ensure appliances are crewed at correct levels?
The following response was provided by the Chair:
In relation to the 2019/20 underspend referenced on page 14 of the agenda pack, it is
recognised that this equated to just 0.34% of the allocated budget, with considerable funding
redirected to support overtime. The Service routinely utilises overtime to support the crewing
of appliances, but this must be balanced with the appropriate use of contracted hours already
made available for the cover of sickness and other absences, an area where performance
still needs to be improved and I would ask that the FBU support the Chief Fire Officer in this
regard.
Within the current year, the FBU will be aware that officers are working hard to maintain the
operational establishment through On-call migration, transferees from other services, and a
wholetime firefighter recruitment campaign. Furthermore, short term measures are being
utilised to offset the delay in recruitment caused by the pandemic, including; On-call staff
working additional shifts, overtime to cover substantive deficiencies, and a continuous drive
to improve sickness cover performance within the contracted hours already made available.
Appliance availability and operational cover has remained strong over recent months, and I
am assured by the Chief Fire Officer that these measures are appropriate to support the
ridership going forward.
Becky Smeathers, Head of Finance, presented the report outlining the provisional financial
performance of the Service in 2019/20. She highlighted the following information:
(a) In February, the Fire Authority approved a 2019/20 revenue budget of £42.696m on the
basis that a budget deficit of £1.240m would be supported by general reserves.
(b) In-year savings were requested to reduce the requirement for reserves and total
expenditure for 2019/20 was £42.096m, resulting in an underspend of £600,000 requiring
£603,000 of funding from general reserves.
(c) While the revenue underspend is a relatively small proportion of the overall budget it
includes a few significant over and underspends, including expenditure relating to
employees, transport and income.
(d) The net movement in earmarked reserves relates to some unused Emergency Service
Network grant and some unused Covid-19 grant.
(e) Overall, reserves are in a healthy position.

Page 90

5

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Policy and Strategy - 24.07.20

(f) Final capital expenditure was £1.843m, which is an underspend within the year of
£4.755m against the revised budget of £6.599m.
(g) £2.6m of the slippage relates to the replacement of Worksop Fire Station which is
delayed due to issues with site availability. Other slippages include transport, protective
equipment, property and IT and communications.
(h) The date for publishing the draft accounts has been extended to 31 August 2020, but
they are on course to be completed by the end of July. The accounts will be audited from
7 September prior to the deadline for final completion at the end of November.
The Committee noted the contents of the report.
Resolved to:
1) approve the slippage of £4,182,000 on the capital programme; and
2) approve the carry forward of surplus funding relating to the Child Safety
Equipment Pilot in an earmarked reserve.
38

Revenue, Capital and Prudential Code Monitoring Report to 31 May 2020

Becky Smeathers, Head of Finance, presented the report about the financial performance of
the Service during 2020/21. She highlighted the following information:
(a) Expenditure has been more erratic than normal due to Covid-19 and its impact on
services. Therefore it has been hard to predict the outturn position.
(b) The revenue forecast outturn position is £43.914m with a £1.497m underspend against a
revised budget of £45.411m. A significant proportion of the underspend relates to the
Covid-19 grant, which was greater than expected and some of which has not yet been
allocated.
(c) One of the major variances relates to wholetime pay, caused by a higher than anticipated
level of vacancies due to the wholetime training course being later than originally
anticipated. The question from the Fire Brigades Union raised the issue of underspend
on wholetime pay and holding vacancies. Options are being looked at and it is
anticipated that the underspend will drop significantly.
(d) The Service has received Government funding for Covid-19 but this can only be used for
specific purposes and not to address potential shortfalls in the 2021/22 budget caused by
reduced collection rates for Council Tax and Business Rates. The current best estimate
is that the impact could be up to £1m which will impact on the Medium Term Financial
Plan for the next 3 years.
(e) There has been slippage in the capital programme which impacts on the Minimum
Revenue Provision and it is proposed that the underspend is reallocated.
(f) Reserves are in a healthy position and the expected level of reserves at 31 March 2020
is £10.9m.

6

Page 91

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Policy and Strategy - 24.07.20

(g) It is proposed to add £30,000 to the Capital Programme for an ICT project funded by the
Covid-19 grant and approve slippage relating to the Worksop replacement fire station. It
is also proposed to add the Command Support Unit upgrade to be funded from
earmarked reserves to the Capital Programme.
(h) In May 2020, Fire Authority increased the limits for prudential indicators to deal with
uncertainties related to Covid-19. This has not been required and borrowing is
comfortably within the original indicators and limits set out in February 2020.
During subsequent discussion the anticipated lower collection rates for Council Tax and
Business Rates was raised. It was clarified that the estimate of the impact of lower collection
rates for Council Tax and Business Rates is based on data provided by local authorities to
the Department for Communities and Local Government. It is difficult to estimate the impact
and the figures are based on current best estimates. The Service’s estimate mirrors national
estimates so it is thought to be reasonable. The Government is being urged to address this
issue in the forthcoming spending review.
The Committee noted the contents of the report.
Resolved to:
1) approve the virement of £62,000 from the MRP budget to operational equipment to
fund the purchase of new fire hoods in response to the Grenfell enquiry outcomes
(£37,000) and to correct an error in the medical equipment budget (£25,000);
2) approve the addition of two new projects to the Capital Programme:
i) £30,000 capital project for ICT equipment to enable the service to react to
Covid-19; and
ii) £70,000 Command Support upgrade to be funded from Earmarked Reserves
3) approve the slippage of £2,557,000 to 2021/22 for the Worksop replacement fire
station project.
39

Service Delivery Performance Report

Prior to the Committee’s consideration of this item, the following written question had been
submitted by the Fire Brigades Union (FBU) and was read to members by Malcolm Townroe,
Clerk to the Authority:
The table in Appendix A shows On-call availability. Ashfield and Retford stations have not
been included in this table, interestingly both stations have the worst on-call availability in the
Service. Why has the Service decided not to include these stations in the report, as all other
stations that have On-call at them are included?
The following response was provided by the Chair:
Contrary to the question posed, I refer the FBU to section 2.4 of the report where the
performance of both Ashfield and Retford fire stations have been clearly articulated in the
report. These stations are not included in the On-Call performance tables as they operate
the unique Day Shift Crewing system recently implemented and are specifically drawn out, at

Page 92

7

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Policy and Strategy - 24.07.20

the request of members, so that more transparency and greater scrutiny can be applied to
those locations.
As part of the implementation of Day Shift Crewing it was also agreed to undertake a review
of the model and report it back to the Authority. This review is being progressed by the Chief
Fire Officer and staff and their representatives will be fully engaged in this work.
Craig Parkin, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, introduced the report updating members on the
performance of the Service Delivery Directorate, noting that this information is normally
reported to the Community Safety Committee which is currently not meeting due to the
coronavirus pandemic. He highlighted the following information:
(a) Between April and June 2020 there was a decrease of 237 incidents compared with the
same period in the previous year.
(b) Between April and June 2020 the overall average attendance time for emergency
incidents was 07:56 minutes which was an increase in performance of 5 seconds
compared with the previous quarter and within the target set for the Service. Lots of work
had taken place to deliver this improvement.
(c) Between April and June 2020 the on-call availability was excellent and it is intended to
learn lessons from this. However there are some concerns about the impact of furlough
ending.
(d) The Community Safety Committee had previously raised concerns about cover in
Ashfield and Retford. A review is underway and staff, including the Fire Brigades Union
will be engaged in the review.
(e) During the coronavirus pandemic, the public should have experienced no difference in
the delivery of services but the Service has been involved in additional activities to
support partner organisations and communities e.g. delivering food parcels and making
befriending telephone calls to high-risk residents. There are lots of lessons to be learnt
from experiences during the pandemic and these will be reported to members in due
course.
(f) The coronavirus pandemic has restricted the ability to carry out preventative work but
there is still a positive direction of travel.
(g) The Protection Team has amended ways of working in line with national guidance and
has had to focus on desktop audits as many buildings have not been accessible.
However this is now starting to change.
(h) In the City, work is taking place in relation to multiple occupancy buildings and is
intended to present the findings of this work to City Councillors. It is intended to try and
engage developers on this agenda so they are sighted on things that would not meet fire
safety standards and might lead to enforcement.
During subsequent discussion the following points were raised:
(i) The Service should be proud of the support it has provided to partners and communities
during the Coronavirus outbreak.

8

Page 93

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Policy and Strategy - 24.07.20

(j) Training is important to avoid losing people. It had been paused during the lockdown
period, but it is now restarting with Covid-safe arrangements in place. In addition, with
furlough arrangements in place on-call staff have been used more and this has reduced
the longer-term impact on competencies and training.
On behalf of the Authority, the Chair thanked staff for their work with partners to support
communities and particularly the most vulnerable people during the current Coronavirus
outbreak.
The Committee noted the contents of the report.
Resolved to send a thank you letter from the Fire Authority to all staff for their work to
support communities during the current Coronavirus outbreak.
40

Update on the Service Response to Her Majesty's Inspectorate of
Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services Inspection

Ian Pritchard, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, presented the report updating members on the
Service’s response to the outcomes of inspection by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of
Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services. He informed members that this report covered
all 25 areas for improvement as reporting to specific committees is suspended due to the
current coronavirus outbreak. He highlighted the following information:
(a) In September 2019 the Fire Authority was presented with an action plan detailing ‘areas
for improvement’ following an inspection of the Service by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of
Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services.
(b) There are eight areas for improvement that are now complete (numbers: 3, 7, 10, 12, 14,
16, 18, and 24).
(c) The remaining seventeen areas for improvement are on schedule for completion and
progress is reported regularly to the Chief Fire Officer.
In the subsequent discussion, members welcomed the positive direction of travel and the
regular monitoring of progress.
Resolved to
1) note the progress made against the Areas for Improvement Action Plan; and
2) close eight specific areas for improvement (AFIs 3, 7, 10, 12, 14, 16, 18 and 24).
41

Shaping Our Future Organisational Health Update 2020

Craig Parkin, Deputy Chief Fire Officer, presented the report updating members on
organisational development, equality, diversity and inclusion activities taking place across the
organisation. He highlighted the following information:

Page 94

9

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Policy and Strategy - 24.07.20

(a) Over the last 12 months the Service has made progress towards it’s organisational
development aims and this is important in the context of issues raised in the 2019
inspection by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue Services.
(b) A new performance and development review process has been introduced linking
individual objectives to overall Service plans, and monitoring performance on this.
(c) There has been a drive to embed the new Behavioural Framework, including through
1:1s and recruitment and selection processes.
(d) As part of the organisation’s commitment to improving workforce diversity, targets have
been set and there has been lots of work on positive action to embed this on a day-today basis and not just think about it in terms of recruitment and selection.
(e) The Black Lives Matter movement has generated challenge for the Service on how it
reflects the communities it serves. All Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) staff
have been invited to a BAME forum to discuss these issues. A BAME action plan is
being developed and the first review of the draft action plan will be undertaken by BAME
staff. As part of addressing this challenge, it is important to create an environment in
which staff are confident to talk about issues without fear of disciplinary action.
(f) 360 degree feedback for middle and senior leaders has been really useful and continues
to be rolled out.
(g) So far 45% of staff have completed the staff survey. The findings of the survey will be
used to inform future organisational development work.
(h) Protection and Prevention Teams are working to consider how to engage all
communities, particularly those under-represented in the Service.
During subsequent discussion the following points were raised:
(i) Alongside recognising progress that has been made, the honesty about the challenges
faced is commended.
(j) There is potential to make more use of elected members as role models.
(k) The Fire Authority could work more closely with partners on establishing LGBT+ role
models to talk about their experiences, as has previously been done in relation to BAME
communities.
(l) It is really important to listen to people about their own experiences.
(m)Work in relation to the BSL Charter, supporting the deaf community and those with
hidden disabilities in appreciated.
(n) The Nottingham Together Board is a community-focused group with a BAME sub-group
working to mobilise civil society and engage with key public sector organisations on
issues such as employment and skills. There could be opportunities for the Authority to
engage with the Board and communicate key messages through its community networks.

10

Page 95

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Policy and Strategy - 24.07.20

Resolved
1) to note the progress made in the organisational development and inclusion
agenda;
2) that the Chief Fire Officer and his Team explore opportunities to develop role
models, particularly in relation to Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic and LGBT+
communities across the City and County;
3) that following receipt of a formal invitation from the Nottingham Together Board,
to engage with the work of that Board.
42

Collaboration Update

Ian Pritchard, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, presented the report updating members on
collaboration activities. He highlighted the following information:
(a) The Collaboration Strategy was approved in September 2018 and a large proportion of
the work has now become business as usual for the Service, for example Police staff colocated at fire stations.
(b) The contract for construction of the new building that will form part of the new Joint Police
and Fire Headquarters at Sherwood Lodge has been awarded to Henry Brothers
Midlands, and some work on site has already started.
(c) Work to redevelop West Bridgford fire station has been delayed slightly by the
coronavirus outbreak.
(d) The Ambulance, Police and Fire Station in Hucknall has been operating for some time
but the official opening was delayed by the coronavirus outbreak and will be rescheduled.
(e) Prevention activities have been temporarily on-hold due to the coronavirus outbreak.
(f) A business case is being put forward to the next meeting of the Collaboration Delivery
Board for the CHARLIE referral training.
(g) The joint drone was successfully used at the Langar Airfield incident.

The Committee noted the contents of the report.
43

Exclusion of the Public

Resolved to exclude the public from the meeting during consideration of the remaining
agenda items in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972
on the basis that, having regard to all the circumstances, the public interest in
maintaining the exemption outweighed the public interest in disclosing the
information.
44

Exempt Minutes

Page 96

11

Nottinghamshire and City of Nottingham Fire and Rescue Authority - Policy and Strategy - 24.07.20

The exempt minutes of the meeting held on 1 May 2020 were confirmed as an accurate
record.
45

Joint Headquarters Collaboration Programme

Resolved to approve the recommendations as set out in the exempt report.
46

Worksop Fire Station Project

Resolved to approve the recommendations as set out in the exempt report.
47

Disposal of Hucknall Fire Station

Resolved to approve the recommendations as set out in the exempt report.

12

Page 97

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 10

Document is Restricted

Page 99

This page is intentionally left blank

